
 

CITY OF WHITEHORSE DATE: Monday, November 25, 2024 
REGULAR Council Meeting #2024-21 TIME: 5:30 p.m. 
 Mayor Kirk Cameron 
 Deputy Mayor Dan Boyd 
 Reserve Deputy Mayor Jenny Hamilton 

AGENDA 
CALL TO ORDER 5:30 p.m. 

AGENDA Adoption 

PROCLAMATIONS 16 Days of Activism Against Gender-Based Violence (November 25 – 
December 10, 2024) 

 World Aids Day (December 1, 2024) 

MINUTES Regular Council meeting dated November 12, 2024 

DELEGATIONS  

PUBLIC HEARING    

STANDING COMMITTEE REPORTS 

Corporate Services Committee – Councillors Boyd and Melnychuk 

1. Capital Budget Variance Reporting Third Quarter 
2. Operating Budget Variance Reporting Third Quarter – For Information Only 

City Planning Committee – Councillors Morris and Middler 

1. Zoning Amendment – Copper Ridge Development Area Land Use Master Plan 
2. Zoning Amendment – Whistle Bend Electrical Substation – Public Hearing Report 
3. Subdivision Approval – Whistle Bend Phase 10 and 11 
4. Lease Agreement – Pioneer Hotel 1, Yukon Film Society 
5. Lease Agreement – Pioneer Hotel 2, Yukon Literacy Coalition 
6. Lease Agreement Amendment – 100ft Crown Reserve 

Development Services Committee – Councillors Gallina and Hamilton 
City Operations Committee – Councillors Melnychuk and Morris 
Community Services Committee – Councillors Hamilton and Gallina 
Public Health and Safety Committee – Councillors Middler and Boyd 

1. Food for Fines Program 

NEW AND UNFINISHED BUSINESS 

 

 

CONT’D 



 

 

CITY OF WHITEHORSE DATE: Monday, November 25, 2024 
REGULAR Council Meeting #2024-21 TIME: 5:30 p.m. 

AGENDA (cont’d) 

BYLAWS 

2024-52 Zoning Amendment – Copper Ridge Master Plan Area 1st Reading 

2024-54 Lease Agreement – Pioneer Hotel 1, Yukon Film Society 1st and 2nd Reading  

2024-55 Lease Agreement – Pioneer Hotel 2, Yukon Literacy 1st and 2nd Reading 
                  Coalition 

2024-56 Lease Agreement Amendment – 100ft Crown Reserve 1st and 2nd Reading 

2024-58  Amendment – 2024-2027 Capital Expenditure Program 1st and 2nd Reading 

2024-47 Zoning Amendment – Whistle Bend Electrical Substation 2nd and 3rd Reading 
  

ADJOURNMENT 



 
 
 

PROCLAMATION 

16 DAYS OF ACTIVISM AGAINST GENDER-BASED 
VIOLENCE 

November 25 – December 10 

WHEREAS the 16 Days of Activism against Gender-Based Violence 
Campaign, from November 25 to December 10, is a time to promote 
action to end violence against women and girls around the world; and 

WHEREAS the City of Whitehorse recognizes all levels of violence are 
unacceptable, and that the elimination of violence against women and 
girls must be a priority; and 

WHEREAS the theme for this year’s campaign – “Unite! Invest to 
prevent violence against women and girls” – calls on individuals and 
governments to share actions taken and investments made to create a 
world free violence against women; 

NOW, THEREFORE I, Mayor Kirk Cameron, do hereby proclaim 
November 25th to December 10th to be the 16 Days of Activism 
Against Gender-Based Violence in the city of Whitehorse. 

 
 
Kirk Cameron 
Mayor 

 



 
 
 

PROCLAMATION 

World Aids Day 
December 1 

WHEREAS World AIDS Awareness Day serves as a time to raise 
awareness and information about AIDS and HIV, honour those 
affected, and promote an end to HIV as a public health issue; and 

WHEREAS the theme for 2024 is “Take the Rights Path”, which 
promotes the message that ending AIDS requires focus on the 
protection of human rights, and calls on leaders to take initiative to 
follow the rights path by upholding and protecting the rights of all 
members of their community; 

NOW, THEREFORE I, Mayor Kirk Cameron, do hereby proclaim 
December 1, 2024 to be World AIDS Day in the city of Whitehorse. 

 
 
Kirk Cameron 
Mayor 

 



 
 

MINUTES of REGULAR Meeting #2024-20 of the Council of the City of Whitehorse called 
for 5:30 p.m. on Tuesday, November 12, 2024, in Council Chambers, City Hall. 

PRESENT: Mayor Kirk Cameron 
 Councillors Dan Boyd 
  Paolo Gallina 
  Jenny Hamilton 
  Anne Middler 
  Lenore Morris 
 
ABSENT:  Eileen Melnychuk 
  

ALSO PRESENT: City Manager Jeff O’Farrell 
 Director of Community Services Krista Mroz 
 Director of Corporate Services Valerie Braga 
 Director of Development Services Mike Gau 
 Director of People and Culture Lindsay Schneider 
 A/Director of Operations and Infrastructure Travis Whiting 

Mayor Cameron called the meeting to order at 5:30 p.m. CALL TO ORDER 
 
 AGENDA 
2024-20-01 

 It was duly moved and seconded 
THAT the Agenda be adopted as presented. 

Carried Unanimously 

 MINUTES 
2024-20-2 

 

It was duly moved and seconded 
THAT the Minutes of the Regular Council meeting dated 
September 23, 2024, and the Minutes from the Special Council 
meeting dated November 1, 2024, be adopted as presented.  

Carried Unanimously 

 PUBLIC HEARING 
Mayor Cameron advised that a Public Hearing was scheduled 
at this meeting and called for submissions with respect to 
Zoning Bylaw Amendment – 505, 507, 509, and 511 Main 
Street (Hyatt Place Hotel). 

Zoning Bylaw Amendment – 
505, 507, 509, and 511 Main 

Street (Hyatt Place Hotel) 

 



City of Whitehorse 
TUESDAY, NOVEMBER 12, 2024  REGULAR COUNCIL MEETING #2024-20 

2 
 

There were 20 written submissions received with all opposed 
to the Zoning Bylaw Amendment – 505, 507, 509, and 511 
Main Street (Hyatt Place Hotel). There were 5 oral 
submissions at the public hearing. 
 

 

Andrea Ash Lawrence, a business owner and resident of 
Copper Ridge, expressed concerns about ongoing parking 
shortage in downtown Whitehorse due to construction of the 
Hyatt, the potential impact of a proposed amendment reducing 
parking requirements for new developments, and the need for 
a multi-level parkade to accommodate growing demand for 
parking downtown.  

Andrea Ash Lawrence 

 
Sandra Doll, a long-time resident of Grainger, expressed 
concern about the lack of parking for both workers and 
residents in downtown Whitehorse, noting that new 
developments like condominiums are being built without 
adequate parking infrastructure. 

Sandra Doll 

 
Nancy Houston, a resident living across from the Hyatt, 
expressed frustration over the lack of parking in the area, 
particularly due to workers occupying spots, and opposed 
reducing parking requirements for the applicant, arguing that 
the company should either provide the required spaces or 
contribute financially to a much-needed parkade. 

Nancy Houston 

 
Michael Hale, a resident of Copper Ridge and the CEO of 
NVD, while addressing concerns about parking, emphasized 
that their development will include 43 parking stalls, which he 
believes is sufficient. The delegate argued that the city's 
broader parking infrastructure issues should not be blamed on 
individual projects, asserting that NVD is committed to the 
community and that imposing a parking fee would be unfair. 

Michael Hale 

 
Lorraine Young, owner of a local craft shop, expressed strong 
opposition to the Hyatt's request for reduced parking 
requirements, citing the already limited parking downtown, the 
negative impact on local businesses, and the lack of 
consultation with residents. The delegate questioned how the 
City allows large corporations to bypass infrastructure plans 
that affect the community. 

Lorraine Young 

 
  



City of Whitehorse 
TUESDAY, NOVEMBER 12, 2024  REGULAR COUNCIL MEETING #2024-20 

3 
 

 
Mayor Cameron called two more times for submissions with 
respect to Zoning Bylaw Amendment – 505, 507, 509, and 511 
Main Street (Hyatt Place Hotel), and hearing no additional 
submissions, the Public Hearing for the Zoning Bylaw 
Amendment was declared closed. 

Public Hearing Closed 

 
Mayor Cameron advised that a Public Hearing was scheduled 
at this meeting to hear any submissions with respect to Zoning 
Bylaw Amendment – Whistle Bend Electrical Substation. 

Zoning Bylaw Amendment – 
Whistle Bend Electrical 

Substation 

 
There were 2 written submissions received, with both opposed 
to Zoning Bylaw Amendment – Whistle Bend Electrical 
Substation. 
 
Mayor Cameron called three times for submissions with 
respect to Zoning Bylaw Amendment – Whistle Bend Electrical 
Substation. 

 

 
Heather Roach, a Re/Max realtor and administrator for a local 
construction company, expressed concern about safety and 
changing zoning. 

Heather Roach 

 
Hearing no additional submissions come forward, Mayor 
Cameron declared the Public Hearing for Zoning Bylaw 
Amendment – Whistle Bend Electrical Substation now closed.  

Public Hearing Closed 

 STANDING 
COMMITTEE REPORTS 

Corporate Services Committee  
In accordance with the Procurement Policy, the Committee 
was presented with a bi-monthly update on forthcoming 
procurement projects with an anticipated value greater than 
$100,000 for the period of November and December 2024. 

Upcoming Procurements – 
November / December – For 

Information Only 

 
2024-20-3 

Fall Recreation Grants 

It was duly moved and seconded 
THAT Council approve the allocation of $95,000 for Recreation 
Grants as recommended by the Recreation Grant Task Force. 

Carried Unanimously  
– Councillor Hamilton declared a conflict of interest and left 

Council Chambers for the discussion of this item. 
 



City of Whitehorse 
TUESDAY, NOVEMBER 12, 2024  REGULAR COUNCIL MEETING #2024-20 

4 
 

2024-20-4 
It was duly moved and seconded 
THAT Council approve Festival and Special Event Grant 
allocations in the amount of $50,000. 

Festival and Special Event 
Grants 

Carried Unanimously  
 
2024-20-5 
It was duly moved and seconded 
THAT Council approve Environmental Grant allocations in 
the amount of $22,191.02. 

 

Environmental Grants 

Carried Unanimously  

City Planning Committee 
2024-20-6  

It was duly moved and seconded 
THAT Council direct that Bylaw 2024-48, a bylaw to amend the 
zoning of 18 Selkirk Street, from PS – Public Service to PSx – 
Public Service (modified), be brought forward for consideration 
under the bylaw process. 

Zoning Amendment – 
Selkirk Water Treatment 

Plant 
 

Carried Unanimously  
 
2024-20-7  

It was duly moved and seconded 
THAT Council direct that Bylaw 2024-49, a bylaw to amend the 
zoning of 401 Casca Boulevard and 4.61 ha of vacant 
Commissioner’s land, from PG – Greenbelt to PU – Public 
Utilities and FP – Future Planning respectively, be brought 
forward for consideration under the bylaw process. 

Zoning Amendment – 
Northeast Casca Boulevard 

Amendments  

Carried Unanimously  

Development Services Committee 
There was no report from the City Operations Committee. No Report 

City Operations Committee 
In response to the delegates’ presentation, Committee 
members inquired about the City’s snow clearing policy for the 
Hamilton Boulevard trail, including processes for potential 
changes. Administration responded to questions regarding the 
current policy, past maintenance practices, and related 
considerations. It was clarified that Council would have future 
decision opportunities on trail maintenance through budget 
discussions, policy updates, and related operational 
considerations. 

New Business – Snow 
Clearing on Hamilton 

 



City of Whitehorse 
TUESDAY, NOVEMBER 12, 2024  REGULAR COUNCIL MEETING #2024-20 

5 
 

Forest Pearson of the Whitehorse Urban Cycling Coalition 
presented on winter maintenance on Hamilton Boulevard and 
motorized multi-use trails. Committee members asked 
questions clarifying who has done winter trail maintenance in 
this area, potential alternatives for maintaining accessibility, 
and the treatments applied to similar multi-use trails within the 
City. 

Delegate Forest Pearson, 
Whitehorse Urban Cycling 

Coalition – Inclusive Winter 
Maintenance 

 
Matthias Purdon spoke on the importance of winter 
maintenance on the Hamilton Boulevard multi-use trail, noting 
improved accessibility from Klondike Snowmobile 
Association’s maintenance last winter. Committee members 
inquired about the path’s accessibility and connectivity in 
certain areas. 

Delegate Matthias Purdon, 
Hamilton Boulevard Multi-Use 

Path Winter Maintenance 

Community Services Committee 
In response to the delegation, Committee members discussed 
facility use and allocation, focusing on dog groups' access to 
City spaces, including past usage, fees, alternative locations, 
and community interest. Administration noted that a primary 
consideration is ensuring balanced access and flexibility for all 
users, and that Council will have future decision points on 
facility access through budget allocations, fees adjustments, 
and policy updates. 

New Business – Dog Parks 
and Fields 

 
The Whitehorse Woofers Dog Club presented a request for 
continued use of City facilities for dog training purposes. 
Committee members asked questions to clarify details about 
the user group, seasonal usage, compatibility with other 
activities, and equipment setup. . 

Delegates Carol Foster and 
Hillary Hatton, Whitehorse 

Woofers Dog Club – Canine 
Dog Agility Training Facility  

 
Mayor Kirk Cameron proclaimed November 8, 2024, as 
Indigenous Veterans Day in Whitehorse to honour over 200 
years of Indigenous contributions to military service. 

Proclamation – Indigenous 
Veterans Day 

 (November 8, 2024)  
 
Mayor Kirk Cameron proclaimed November 11, 2024, as 
Remembrance Day in Whitehorse to honour those who have 
served and continue to serve Canada. 

Proclamation – 
Remembrance Day 

(November 11, 2024)  

 Public Health and Safety Committee 
There was no report from the Public Health and Safety 
Committee. No Report 

 
  



City of Whitehorse 
TUESDAY, NOVEMBER 12, 2024  REGULAR COUNCIL MEETING #2024-20 

6 
 

BYLAWS 
2024-20-8 

BYLAW 2024-48 
Zoning Amendment – 

Selkirk Water Treatment 
Plant 

FIRST READING 

It was duly moved and seconded 
THAT Bylaw 2024-48, a bylaw to amend the zoning of 18 
Selkirk Street, from PS – Public Service to PSx – Public 
Service (modified), be given First Reading. 

Carried Unanimously 
 
2024-20-9 

BYLAW 2024-49 
Zoning Amendment – 

Northeast Casca 
Boulevard Amendments 

FIRST READING 

It was duly moved and seconded 
THAT Bylaw 2024-49, a bylaw to amend the zoning of 401 
Casca Boulevard and 4.61 ha of vacant Commissioner’s land, 
from PG – Greenbelt to PU – Public Utilities and FP – Future 
Planning respectively, be given First Reading. 

Carried Unanimously 
 

There being no further business, the meeting adjourned at 6:32 p.m. ADJOURNMENT 

 

 

 Mayor 

 

 

 Corporate Services 

 

Adopted by Resolution at Meeting #2024-21 



 

 
Minutes of the Meeting of the 

Corporate Services Committee 

Date November 18, 2024 2024-21 
Location Council Chambers, City Hall 
  
 Councillor Dan Boyd - Chair 
 Mayor Kirk Cameron 
Committee Councillor Paolo Gallina 
Members Councillor Jenny Hamilton  
Present Councillor Anne Middler 
 Councillor Lenore Morris 
  
 Jeff O’Farrell, City Manager 
 Krista Mroz, Director of Community Services 
Staff Valerie Braga, Director of Corporate Services 
Present Lindsay Schneider, Director of People and Culture 
 Mike Gau, Director of Development Services 
 Travis Whiting, A/Director of Operations and Infrastructure 
 Svetlana Erickson, Manager, Financial Services 
 

Your Worship, the Corporate Services Committee respectfully submits the following 
report: 

1. Capital Budget Variance Reporting Third Quarter 
Financial Services presented their review of Capital Budget projections submitted by 
department managers and provided to the Committee a high-level summary of 
anticipated capital spending and proposed amendments to the 2024 to 2027 Capital 
Expenditure Program. Administration responded to questions and provided clarity on 
the budget as presented. 

The Recommendation of the Corporate Services Committee is 
THAT Council direct that Bylaw 2024-58, a bylaw to reduce the 2024 to 2027 Capital 
Expenditure Program in the amount of $871,739 and to increase the budget for project 
320c01119 Mount McIntyre Recreation Centre in the amount of $9,319,000, funded 
from the Capital Reserve until the funding has been approved from the Investing in 
Canada Infrastructure Program (ICIP), be approved under the bylaw process.



Minutes of Meeting #2024-21 of the Corporate Services Committee 
November 18, 2024                 Page 2 

2. Operating Budget Variance Reporting Third Quarter – For Information Only 
Financial Services reviewed operating expenditures projections submitted by 
department managers and provided to the Committee a forecast of operating results to 
the end of the 2024 fiscal year. Administration responded to questions on surplus funds 
and transfers as they relate to the budget. 
 
 
 
  



        

 
Minutes of the Meeting of the 

City Planning Committee 

Date November 18, 2024 2024-21 
Location Council Chambers, City Hall 
  
 Councillor Lenore Morris - Chair 
 Councillor Dan Boyd  
 Mayor Kirk Cameron 
Committee Councillor Paolo Gallina 
Members Councillor Jenny Hamilton  
Present Councillor Anne Middler 
  
  
 Jeff O’Farrell, City Manager 
 Krista Mroz, Director of Community Services 
Staff Valerie Braga, Director of Corporate Services 
Present Lindsay Schneider, Director of People and Culture 
 Mike Gau, Director of Development Services 
 Travis Whiting, A/Director of Operations and Infrastructure 
 Mathieu Marois, A/Manager, Planning and Sustainability Services 

 Kinden Kosick, Supervisor, Land and Building Services    
 Peter Duke, Manager, Land and Building Services 
 

Your Worship, the Corporate Services Committee respectfully submits the following 
report: 

1. Zoning Amendment – Copper Ridge Development Area Land Use Master 
Plan 

An application to amend the zoning of lots 519, 520, and a portion of lot 518, known as 
the Copper Ridge Development Area Land Use Master Plan (the Plan) site, from PS – 
Public Services, PS(x) – Public Services Modified, and PR – Parks and Recreation to 
FP – Future Planning, to ensure certainty and flexibility for future rezoning was 
presented. Administration answered multiple Committee questions on prior processes, 
land development, zoning, and the roles of the City, the developer, and the Yukon 
Government.
 
 
  



Minutes of Meeting #2024-21 of the City Planning Committee 
November 18, 2024                   Page 2 

The Recommendation of the City Planning Committee is 
THAT Council direct that Bylaw 2024-52, a bylaw to amend the zoning of the Copper 
Ridge Development Area Land Use Master Plan site, from PS – Public Services, PS(x) 
– Public Services Modified, and PR – Parks and Recreation to FP – Future Planning, be 
brought forward for consideration under the bylaw process. 
 
2. Public Hearing Report – Whistle Bend Electrical Substation 
The Public Hearing Report on a bylaw to amend the zoning of a 0.75 ha parcel of 
vacant Commissioner’s land, located west of Phase 7 of Whistle Bend, from FP – 
Future Planning to PU – Public Utilities, to allow for the development of a new Electrical 
Substation to address increasing power demands was presented. Administration 
responded to questions from Committee members on the Whistle Bend Electrical 
Substation zoning amendment, confirming no submissions were received regarding 
trails or trailheads.  

The Recommendation of the City Planning Committee is 
THAT Council direct that Bylaw 2024-47, a bylaw to amend the zoning of vacant 
Commissioner’s land from FP – Future Planning to PU – Public Utilities, be brought 
forward at second and third reading under the bylaw process.   
 
3. Subdivision Approval – Whistle Bend Phase 10/11 
Subdivision approval for 25.8 ha of vacant Commissioner’s land comprising phases 10 
and 11 of Whistle Bend was presented. Administration responded to questions from 
Committee members on the subdivision approval for Whistle Bend Phases 10 and 11, 
explaining the timing of the infrastructure analysis, the development agreement process, 
and the expansion of the subdivision beyond the original master plan.  

The Recommendation of the City Planning Committee is 
THAT Council approve the subdivision of approximately 25.8 ha of land for the creation 
of new residential lots, lanes, and roads for the areas known as Whistle Bend Phase 10 
and 11, as shown on the proposed subdivision sketches, subject to the following 
conditions: 
THAT the Government of Yukon enter into a Development Agreement with the City of 
Whitehorse for the construction of underground utilities, roads and lanes to service the 
proposed subdivision area and other areas of Whistle Bend Subdivision, as well as 
other specified on- and off-site works; and 
THAT Government of Yukon enter into an Infrastructure and Servicing Agreement with 
the City of Whitehorse that sets out the development responsibilities, timelines, and 
costs associated with transportation improvements within Whistle Bend and along 
Mountain View Drive, Copper Road, and Quartz Road; and 
THAT Council authorize Mayor and Corporate Services to execute an Infrastructure and 
Servicing Agreement with the Government of Yukon.
 



Minutes of Meeting #2024-21 of the City Planning Committee 
November 18, 2024                   Page 3 

4. Bylaw for Lease of Pioneer Hotel 1 (Jenni House) – Shipyards Park 
A bylaw to enter into a lease agreement with Yukon Film Society for the Pioneer Hotel 1 
(Jenni House) located in Shipyards Park was presented. Administration responded to 
questions from Committee members on utility analysis, noting heat-trace issues and 
seasonal use limitations. Future cost considerations were also discussed.  
 
The Recommendation of the City Planning Committee is 
THAT Council direct that Bylaw 2024-54, to authorize the City of Whitehorse to enter 
into a lease agreement with Yukon Film Society with respect to Pioneer Hotel 1 (Jenni 
House), be brought forward for consideration under the bylaw process. 
 
5. Bylaw for Lease of Pioneer Hotels 2 (Hatch House) – Shipyards Park 
A bylaw to enter into a lease agreement with Yukon Literacy Coalition for Pioneer Hotel 
2 (Hatch House) located in Shipyards Park was presented.  
 
The Recommendation of the City Planning Committee is 
THAT Council direct that Bylaw 2024-55, to authorize the City of Whitehorse to enter 
into a lease agreement with Yukon Literacy Coalition with respect to Pioneer Hotel 2 
(Hatch House), in Shipyards Park, be brought forward for consideration under the bylaw 
process. 
 
6. Bylaw for Amendment to Lease Agreement for the 100-foot Crown Reserve 

in Shipyards Park 
A bylaw to amend the 2006 Lease Agreement (Bylaw 2007-17) with Yukon Government 
by replacing the existing lease sketch that shows all of the remaining portions of Lot 8 
(REM), Group 5 (804), Plan 20502 LTO, also known as the 100-foot Crown Reserve 
from the Yukon River, located adjacent to the City titled Shipyards Park property was 
presented. Administration responded to questions from Committee members on the 
status of the land transfer from YG, confirming it is in process and explaining the land's 
historical crown control.  
 
The Recommendation of the City Planning Committee is 
THAT Council direct that Bylaw 2024-56, a bylaw to amend the Lease Agreement and 
Appendix A with Yukon Government, be brought forward for consideration under the 
bylaw process. 
 
7. Delegate Andrew Connors, Yukon Film Society – Film Society Operations 
The delegate discussed the Film Society’s use of the Pioneer Hotel space as an artist 
venue. Council asked about lease changes and year-round feasibility given water and 
sewer limitations.



 

 
Minutes of the Meeting of the 

Development Services Committee 

Date November 18, 2024 2024-21 
Location Council Chambers, City Hall 
  
 Councillor Paolo Gallina - Chair 
 Mayor Kirk Cameron 
Committee Councillor Dan Boyd 
Members Councillor Eileen Melnychuk 
Present Councillor Anne Middler 
 Councillor Lenore Morris  
 
   
 Jeff O’Farrell, City Manager 
 Krista Mroz, Director of Community Services 
Staff Valerie Braga, Director of Corporate Services 
Present Lindsay Schneider, Director of People and Culture 
 Mike Gau, Director of Development Services 
 Travis Whiting, A/Director of Operations and Infrastructure 
 

Your Worship, there is no report from the Development Services Committee.

 

 
  



 

 
Minutes of the Meeting of the 

City Operations Committee 

Date November 18, 2024 2024-21 
Location Council Chambers, City Hall 
  
 Councillor Lenore Morris - Chair 
 Mayor Kirk Cameron 
Committee Councillor Dan Boyd 
Members Councillor Paolo Gallina 
Present Councillor Jenny Hamilton 
 Councillor Anne Middler 
  
 Jeff O’Farrell, City Manager 
 Krista Mroz, Director of Community Services 
Staff Valerie Braga, Director of Corporate Services 
Present Lindsay Schneider, Director of People and Culture 
 Mike Gau, Director of Development Services 
 Travis Whiting, A/Director of Operations and Infrastructure 
  
 

Your Worship, the City Operations Committee respectfully submits the following report: 

1.  New Business – Advance Left on Ogilvie 
Council asked about the advanced left turn signal at Ogilvie, questioning why it applies 
only to northbound traffic. Administration replied that a study identified the greatest 
impact in that direction and confirmed they will monitor for future impacts. 
 
 
  



 

 
Minutes of the Meeting of the 

Community Services Committee 

Date November 18, 2024 2024-21 
Location Council Chambers, City Hall 
  
 Councillor Jenny Hamilton– Chair 
 Mayor Kirk Cameron 
Committee Councillor Dan Boyd 
Members Councillor Paolo Gallina 
Present Councillor Anne Middler 
 Councillor Lenore Morris 
  
 Jeff O’Farrell, City Manager 
 Krista Mroz, Director of Community Services 
Staff Valerie Braga, Director of Corporate Services 
Present Lindsay Schneider, Director of People and Culture 
 Mike Gau, Director of Development Services 
 Travis Whiting, A/Director of Operations and Infrastructure  
 

Your Worship, the Community Services Committee respectfully submits the following 
report: 

1. New Business – Motorized Vehicles on Non-Motorized Trails  
As a result of the delegate presentation, Council inquired about motorized vehicles on 
non-motorized trails and the use of gas tax funding for motorized vehicle trails. 
Administration confirmed no issues with the funding have been raised but 
acknowledged public confusion and potential safety conflicts. Council discussed 
whether this should be a priority, with Administration noting the complexity of the issue, 
including snowmobile traffic and neighbourhood plans.  
 
2. Delegate Keith Lay, Active Trails Whitehorse Association – Active 

Transportation/Paved Trails 
The delegate discussed conflicts between snowmobilers and active transportation 
users, advocating for changes to the snowmobile bylaw to align with the ATV bylaw and 
restrict snowmobilers from motorized multi use trails. 
 



Minutes of Meeting #2024-21 of the Community Services Committee 
November 18, 2024                   Page 2 

 
3. Proclamation – Transgender Day of Remembrance (November 20, 2024) 
Mayor Kirk Cameron proclaimed November 20, 2024, as Transgender Day of 
Remembrance in Whitehorse to honour the memory of the transgender, two-spirit, and 
non-binary people whose lives were lost to transphobic violence.
 
 
  



 

 
Minutes of the Meeting of the 

Public Health and Safety Committee 

Date November 18, 2024 2024-21 
Location Council Chambers, City Hall 
  
 Councillor Anne Middler - Chair 
 Mayor Kirk Cameron 
Committee Councillor Dan Boyd 
Members Councillor Paolo Gallina 
Present Councillor Jenny Hamilton 
 Councillor Lenore Morris  
 
 Jeff O’Farrell, City Manager 
 Krista Mroz, Director of Community Services 
Staff Valerie Braga, Director of Corporate Services 
Present Lindsay Schneider, Director of People and Culture 
 Mike Gau, Director of Development Services 
 Travis Whiting, A/Director of Operations and Infrastructure 
 Colin LaForme, Constable, Bylaw Services 
 

Your Worship, the Public Health and Safety Committee respectfully submits the 
following report: 

1. Food for Fines Program  
The approval for the annual “Food for Fines” Program was presented. Administration 
responded to questions from Committee members on the $12K limit and frequency of 
program provision.  
 
The Recommendation of the Public Health and Safety Committee is 
THAT the 2024 Food for Fines program be approved; and 
THAT a grant not exceeding $12,000 for parking meter tickets or two-hour zone fines 
issued between November 23rd and December 7th, 2024 be approved to the Food 
Bank, Kaushee’s Place, and Skookum Jim Friendship Centre as part of the ‘Food for 
Fines’ program.
  



Minutes of Meeting #2024-21 of the Public Health and Safety Committee 
November 18, 2024                   Page 2 

2. Delegates Stuart Clark and Sue Johnson – Wildfire Awareness Society 
The delegates highlighted the citywide risk of ember showers and actions that could be 
taken by homeowners to reduce vulnerability. They also expressed interest in 
continuing to work with the City on this issue and answered technical questions from 
Council around the activities of their society. 
  
  



 

There being no further business the meeting adjourned at 8:46 P.M. 
 
 
_________________________ 
Mayor 
 
 
 
 
_________________________ 
Corporate Services 
 
 



 

 

CITY OF WHITEHORSE 
BYLAW 2024-52 

A bylaw to amend Zoning Bylaw 2012-20 

WHEREAS section 289 of the Municipal Act provides that a zoning bylaw may prohibit, 
regulate and control the use and development of land and buildings in a municipality; 
and 
WHEREAS section 294 of the Municipal Act provides for amendment of the Zoning 
Bylaw; and 
WHEREAS it is deemed desirable that the City of Whitehorse Zoning Bylaw be 
amended to provide certainty and flexibility for future rezoning of the Copper Ridge 
Development Area Land Use Master Plan site at Lots 518-520, Plan 83103 CLSR YT, 
99-0224 LTO; and 
NOW THEREFORE the council of the municipality of the City of Whitehorse, in open 
meeting assembled, hereby ENACTS AS FOLLOWS: 

1. The zoning maps attached to and forming part of Zoning Bylaw 2012-20 are hereby 
amended by changing the zoning of lots 519, 520, and a portion of lot 518, Plan 
83103 CLSR YT, 99-0224 LTO from PS – Public Services, PS(x) – Public Services 
Modified, and PR – Parks and Recreation to FP – Future Planning as indicated on 
Appendix “A” and forming part of this bylaw. 

2. This bylaw shall come into force and effect upon the final passing thereof.   
 
FIRST READING:    
PUBLIC NOTICE:  
PUBLIC HEARING:  
SECOND READING:  
THIRD READING and ADOPTION:  

____________________________ 
Mayor 

____________________________ 
Corporate Services 



Continuing
Care Facility

FP

RS

RS

GRANGER

COPPER
RIDGE

RSx(a)

PR

PR

RM

PR

RR

FN-FP

PR

RR

RR

PR

PG

PG

RR
PSx(c)

PR

PS

RM
PG

PS

RR

PR

RCS2

PR

RM

PSx(a)

RR

RM

PR RM
x(b)

PG

PSRR

RS

PG

PE

PE

PE

FP

CN

RRx(a)

RR

RR

PR

FP

RR

RRx(c)

W
ILLIAM

S Pl

GEM Pl

GILL
IS

PL
AC

E

KODIAK Pl

H
AYES

Pl
BLUEJAY WAY

SPINEL Pl

GRAFTER PLACE

MAGPIE Rd

CARLISLE
PLACE

AQUAMARIN
E

Pl

HAYES
CRESCENT

O
LI

VI
N

EPLACE

RUBY LANE

BL
AC

K
BE

AR
Ln

WILLIAMS Rd

DIAMOND WAY

ZIRCO
N

L ANE

WINZE LANE

TABOR Cres

W
IN

ZE
P

LA
CE

ADIT LANE

PU

EBLO CRESCENT

M
O

O
N

ST
O

N
E

LA
N

E

VALERIE Cres

FINC

H CRESCENT

EMERALD TRAIL

IRON
H

O
R

SE
D

R
IV

E

TO
PA

Z CRESCENT

THOMPSON ROAD

GARNETCRESCENT

STOPE WAY

TIGEREYE
CRESCENT

DRIFT DRIVE

LA
ZU

LIT

E DRIVE

KEEWENAW DRIVE

WILSON DRIVE

HAM
ILTO

N BO
ULEVARD

NORTH STAR DRIVE

FALCON DRIVE

G
R

IZ
ZL

Y

CIRCLE

MAP 17 COPPER RIDGE

LOGAN, GRANGER

Where a letter appears in brackets following a zoning
designation, e.g. RSx(a), the letter corresponds to the
‘special restrictions’ subsection for that zone.

0 380

Meters

Consolidation date:
September 13, 2024

Projection: NAD 1983 UTM Zone 8

M
ap

 1
8M

ap 12

Map 13

Map 19

Appendix A, Bylaw Map
Bylaw 2024-52

Rezone
From PS – Public Services, PSx – Public Services Modified, 
and PR – Parks and Recreation 
To FP – Future Planning



CITY OF WHITEHORSE 

BYLAW 2024-54 

A bylaw to authorize a lease agreement with Yukon Film Society with respect to the 
heritage property Pioneer Hotel 1 

WHEREAS section 265 of the Municipal Act (2002) provides that Council may pass 
bylaws for municipal purposes respecting the municipality’s leasing of any real or 
personal property; and 

WHEREAS it is deemed desirable that the City enter into an agreement with Yukon Film 
Society for the lease of the heritage property Pioneer Hotel 1, also known as Jenni 
House, and a 110 square metre parcel of land for a three year lease term from November 
1, 2024 to and including October 31, 2027 with the potential for a three year renewal; 

NOW THEREFORE the council of the municipality of the City of Whitehorse, in open 
meeting assembled, hereby ENACTS AS FOLLOWS: 

1. The City of Whitehorse is hereby authorized to enter into a lease agreement with 
Yukon Film Society with respect to that portion of Lot 8 (Remainder), Group 5 (804), 
Plan 20502 LTO and Portion of Block 330, Plan 2003-0151 LTO, Whitehorse, 
Yukon, in the City of Whitehorse, as shown on the sketch attached hereto as 
Appendix “A” and forming part of this bylaw. 

2. The Mayor and Corporate Services are hereby authorized to execute on behalf of 
the City of Whitehorse the Lease Agreement attached hereto as Appendix “B” and 
forming part of this bylaw. 

3. This bylaw shall come into full force and effect upon the final passing thereof. 

FIRST and SECOND READING:  
THIRD READING and ADOPTION:  
 
 

______________________________ 
Mayor 

______________________________ 
Corporate Services 
 
 
 



Pioneer Hotel 1 (Jenni House)
Lease Area = ± 110 square metres

± 11.2 m

± 9.8 m

Lot 8 REM
Group 5 (804)
Plan 20502 LTO

Pioneer Hotel 1

(Jenni House)

Chambers House

Riverfront Trail

Block 330
Plan 2003-0151 LTO

running / skating track

± 11.2 m

± 9.8 m

Pion
ee

r H
ote

l 2

(H
atc

h H
ou

se
)

para ramp

Ü

0 2.5 5 7.5 10 12.51.25
Meters

CITY OF WHITEHORSE
BYLAW 2024-54
APPENDIX 'A'

BYLAW 2024-54 A bylaw to authorize the City of Whitehorse to enter into 
a lease agreement with Yukon Film Society with respect to the heritage 
property known as Pioneer Hotel 1 (Jenni House), comprising approximately 
110 square metres.

LEGEND
SUBJECT AREA



BYLAW 2024-54 
ATTACHMENT “2” 

THIS LEASE AGREEMENT, made the _____ day of ____________, 2024 in triplicate, 
to be effective as of and from the 1st day of November, 2024. 

BETWEEN 
The City of Whitehorse, a municipality duly incorporated pursuant to 
the provisions of the Municipal Act 

(the “Lessor”) 
AND 

Yukon Film Society 
(the “Lessee”) 

WHEREAS 
A. The Lessor is the tenant of a portion of the Lands described in the Amended 

Description of Land in the Addendum Document dated April 17, 2024 pursuant to a 
Lease Agreement (Bylaw 2007-17) with Yukon Government (the “Lease 
Agreement”); 

B. The Lessee will occupy the building known as the Pioneer Hotel 1 – also known 
as the Jenni House – which the Lessee will operate for an artist residency program 
and for heritage interpretation activities (the “Premises”); 

C. The Premises are situated on the Lands and the Lessee desires to enter into a 
lease agreement with the Lessor in accordance with the terms and conditions 
contained in this lease. 

1. Demise 
 Lease 

Witness that in consideration of the rents, covenants, conditions and agreements herein 
reserved and contained on the part of the Lessee to be paid, observed and performed, 
the Lessor, being lease holder of the Government of Yukon under the lease Agreement, 
does hereby demise and lease unto the Lessee on the terms and conditions herein 
contained, the Premises and that parcel of land more particularly described as follows: 
(1) That portion of Lot 8 (Remainder), Group 5 (804), Plan 20502 LTO, City of 

Whitehorse, Yukon Territory; 
(2) That portion of Block 330, Plan 2003-0151 LTO, City of Whitehorse, Yukon 

Territory; 
Comprising approximately 110 square metres more or less and shown outlined in yellow 
in the sketch attached hereto as Schedule “A” (the “Lands”). 

 Term 

To have and to hold the Lands and Premises, within which the Lessee will operate as a 
programming, activities, events space for the Yukon Film Society and the operation of 
the Jenni House Artist Residency, from May 1 to October 31 annually, and as a cold 
storage space for items incidental to the aforementioned programming from November 
1 to April 30 annually, for and during the term of November 1, 2024 up to and including 
October 31, 2027. Notwithstanding the foregoing, in the event water and utility services 



Lease Agreement – Pioneer Hotel 1 (Jenni House) Page 2 

are made operational for winter use, it is agreed that the term may be adjusted to allow 
for year-round occupancy for the purposes of the Jenni House Artist Residency. 

 Rent 

Yielding and paying therefore during the term hereof unto the Lessor the sum of Five 
Hundred dollars ($500.00) per year, plus Goods and Services Tax, of lawful money of 
Canada to be paid in advance of the first day March each year. 

 Property Taxes 

The tenant shall be responsible for all real property taxes including local improvements rates 
levied or assessed by any competent authority upon or in respect of the Land. 

 Carefree Lease 

The Lessee acknowledges that it is intended that this Lease be a net-net lease for the 
Lessor and that all and every cost, expense, charge or out lay of any nature whatsoever 
in any way related to the Lands and Premises or their occupancy by the Lessee shall be 
borne by the Lessee excepting as otherwise expressly provided herein. 

 Heritage Integrity 

The Lessor and Lessee hereby recognize that the Pioneer Hotel 1 (Jenni House) is a 
heritage building and that the historic integrity, especially the exterior, must be 
maintained. Any alterations, repairs, or applications for signage must receive prior 
approval from the Lessor. 

 Renewal of Lease 

The City Manager of the Landlord or its delegate may, in the last year of the initial term 
of this Lease, as specifically provided for by Bylaw 2024-54, in its sole and unfettered 
discretion, which may be unreasonably withheld, grant to the Tenant one renewal of the 
Lease for a further three (3) year term, which shall not contain this section. 
 

 Parking 

The Lessee, their employees and any other individuals associated with the programs and 
activities associated with the building shall use the designated public parking area in the 
Shipyards Park parking lot for vehicle parking. The parking spaces are on a first-come, 
first-serve basis, with no reserved spaces. Vehicles are prohibited from driving and 
parking on any other land in Shipyards Park, unless there are exceptional circumstances 
and the Lessee has received verbal permission from the Lessor.  

 Access 

The Lessee agrees that vehicles shall not drive or park on any portion of Lot 8 
(Remainder), Group 5 (804), Plan 20502 LTO, City of Whitehorse, Yukon Territory without 
prior verbal permission from the Lessor. 

The Lessee further agrees that the formal pedestrian access route from the parking lot 
shall be by way of the waterfront trail rather than across the skating loop.  



Lease Agreement – Pioneer Hotel 1 (Jenni House) Page 3 

 Special Events 

The Lessor and Lessee hereby recognize that special events and festivals will be 
occurring in Shipyards Park during the lease term, which may limit the availability of 
parking and compromise access to the Lands and Premises. The Lessor shall make every 
reasonable effort to ensure that access to the Lands and Premises is maintained during 
special events and festivals. In the event that access will be unable to be maintained to 
the Lands and Premises as a result of any special event or festival, the Lessor shall notify 
the Lessee in advance of the special event or festival (not to include any regular events 
such as the weekly Fireweed Market). 

2. Covenants of Lessee 
 Promises of Lessee 

The Lessee covenants and agrees with the Lessor as follows: 
 Rent 

The Lessee shall during the terms of this lease or any renewal thereof pay to the 
Lessor the rent hereby reserved, and all other sums to be paid by the Lessee 
hereunder in the manner herein provided without any deduction whatsoever. The 
Lessee shall produce to the Lessor from time to time, at the request of the Lessor, 
satisfactory evidence of the due payment by the Lessee of all other payments 
required to be made by the Lessee under this lease; 

 Repair 
The Lessee shall maintain the Lands and Premises in good and substantial repair, 
damage by fire and other risks against which the Lessor is insured excepted (the 
“Lessee Repair Exceptions”); 

 Notice to Repair 

The Lessor and its agents may at all reasonable times enter the Lands and 
Premises to examine the condition thereof, and all want of repair that upon such 
examination may be found and for the amendment of which notice in writing is left 
at the Lands and Premises, the Lessee shall well and sufficiently repair and make 
good according to such notice within 15 days from the date on which such notice 
is left at the Lands and Premises, subject to the Lessee Repair Exceptions; 

 Care of Lands and Premises 

The Lessee shall take good care of the Lands and Premises and keep the same 
in a safe, tidy and healthy condition and shall, at its own expense, bear such costs 
as are reasonably necessary during the term of this lease to keep the Lands and 
Premises in such condition. The Lessee shall be responsible for clearing snow on 
the walkway between the waterfront trail and the entrance to the Premises from 
May 1 to October 31 annually; 

 Utilities 

The Lessee shall pay, when due, all rates and charges for electricity, water, sewer, 
telephone, cable, heating fuel, internet and any other utilities supplied to or used 



Lease Agreement – Pioneer Hotel 1 (Jenni House) Page 4 

on or in the Lands and Premises as separately metered or separately invoiced by 
the supplier(s), including any utilities as supplied by the Lessor;  

 Security Alarm 
The Premises is equipped with a security system. The Lessee shall pay all charges 
for security alarm call-outs when the reason for the call-out is deemed to be a false 
alarm.  

 Waste Diversion 
Waste diversion to extend the life of the City’s landfill is important to the Landlord 
and the citizens of the City of Whitehorse. As such, City Council has adopted the 
Waste Management Bylaw which bans or controls certain types of waste. The 
Tenant agrees that it shall comply with the Waste Management Bylaw at all times, 
including provision of sufficient recycling and compost bins on the Lands and 
Premises, to ensure that recyclable and organic waste are separated and diverted 
from the landfill as required by the Waste Management Bylaw. All costs associated 
with waste diversion shall be the responsibility of the Tenant; 

 Removal of Garbage 
The Lessee shall arrange at their cost for regular garbage collection of all garbage 
arising from the operation of the Lessee’s business or their occupation of the Lands 
and Premises. The Lessee shall also be responsible for cleaning all garbage and 
refuse from within the Lands and Premises which includes all areas within 3 metres 
of the building; 

 Business Taxes 

The Lessee shall pay when due all business taxes payable by the Lessee in 
respect of the Lessee's occupancy of the Lands and Premises; 

 Assignment and Subleasing 

The Lessee shall not assign, mortgage or encumber this Lease, or sublet, or suffer 
or permit the Lands and Premises or any part thereof to be used by others by 
license or otherwise, without the prior written consent of the Lessor, which consent 
may be arbitrarily and unreasonably withheld; 

 Use of Lands and Premises 

The Lessee shall not use the Lands and Premises nor allow the Lands and 
Premises to be used for any purpose other than as operations and programming 
for the Yukon Film Society between May 1 and October 31, and as cold storage of 
incidental items between November 1 and April 30, or such other uses as are 
approved in writing by the Lessor. The Lessee may make application for temporary 
events outside the boundaries of the Lands and Premises, so long as they obtain 
written approval from the Lessor, whose consent may be arbitrarily and 
unreasonably withheld;  

 Nuisance 

The Lessee shall not at any time use, exercise, or carry on or permit to be used, 
exercised or carried on, in or upon the Lands and Premises or any part thereof any 
noxious, noisome, or offensive act, trade, business, occupation or calling and no 



Lease Agreement – Pioneer Hotel 1 (Jenni House) Page 5 

act, matter or thing whatsoever shall at any time be done in or upon the Lands and 
Premises or any part thereof which is an unreasonable annoyance, nuisance or 
disturbance to the occupiers or owners of the adjoining lands and properties; 

 Insurance Risk 

The Lessee shall not do or permit to be done any act or thing which may render 
void or voidable or conflict with the requirements of any policy of insurance, on the 
Lands and Premises, including any regulations of fire insurance underwriters 
applicable to such policy. The Lessee shall ensure that all activities carried out or 
conducted on the Lands and Premises are done in accordance with the provisions 
of any policy of insurance that is in force, so that the Lessee and the Lessor have 
the benefit of such insurance. Any activity which cannot be insured for or which is 
specifically exempted from coverage under any policy of insurance that is in force 
shall not be permitted by the Lessee; 

 Bylaws 

The Lessee shall comply with all statutes, regulations, and by-laws of any 
governmental authority relating in any way to the use or occupation of the Lands 
and Premises, including, without limiting the generality of the foregoing, all laws, 
regulations and bylaws affecting or relating to the sale or consumption of alcoholic 
beverages on the Lands and the Premises; 

 Alterations 

The Lessee shall not make any alterations, installations, improvements or changes 
of any kind to the Lands and Premises without the prior written consent of the 
Lessor, and the Lessor may require that any or all work to be done or materials to 
be supplied hereunder, be done or supplied by contractors or workers approved 
by the Lessor; 

 Fixtures 
All alterations, additions, improvements and fixtures to, in or upon the Lands and 
Premises including everything attached to any part of the Lands and Premises, 
other than the Lessee’s trade fixtures, machinery, plant and equipment, shall 
become the property of the Lessor and shall remain on the Lands and Premises 
at the expiration or earlier termination of the term, subject to such exceptions that 
the Lessor may consent to in writing; 

 Removal of Goods, Chattels, or Fixtures 

The Lessee shall not remove from the Lands and Premises any goods or chattels 
moved into the Lands and Premises, except in the normal course of business, until 
all rent and other payments due or to become due during the term of this Lease 
are fully paid; 

 No Permanent Structures 

The Lessee shall not construct, install or erect any permanent structures or 
buildings on the Lands or additions to the Premises without the express written 
consent of the Lessor; 



Lease Agreement – Pioneer Hotel 1 (Jenni House) Page 6 

 Builder's Liens 

The Lessee shall promptly pay all charges incurred by the Lessee for any work, 
materials or services that may be done, supplied or performed in respect of the 
Lands and Premises and shall not cause or permit any builder's lien to be 
registered against the Lands and if any such lien should be so registered the 
Lessee shall pay off and discharge the same forthwith and, if he shall fail or neglect 
to do so within 10 days after written notice thereof from the Lessor, the Lessor may 
but shall not be obliged to, pay and discharge such lien and may add to the next 
ensuing instalment of rent the amount so paid including all costs to the Lessor 
together with interest thereon from the date of payment. 
Provided that in the event of a bona fide dispute by the Lessee of the validity or 
correctness of any such claim of lien, the Lessee shall be entitled to defend against 
the same and any proceedings brought in respect thereof after having first paid 
into Court the amount claimed and such costs as the Court may direct or having 
provided such other security as the Lessor may in writing approve to ensure 
payment thereof. Provided further that upon determination of the validity of any 
such lien, the Lessee shall immediately pay any judgment in respect thereof 
against the Lessor, including all proper costs and charges incurred by the Lessor 
and the Lessee in connection with any such lien and shall cause a discharge 
thereof to be registered without cost or expense to the Lessor; 

 Inspection 

The Lessee shall permit the Lessor or any other person authorized by the Lessor 
to inspect the Lands and Premises at all reasonable times; 

 Re-letting 
The Lessee shall permit the Lessor, at any time within 90 days prior to the 
expiration of the terms hereby granted, upon 24 hours’ notice to the Lessee, to 
enter upon the Premises at all reasonable hours for the purpose of offering the 
same for rent and exhibiting the same to prospective tenants and to place and 
keep upon the Premises, signs advertising the premises for rent; 

 Maintenance 

The Lessee shall permit the Lessor to install, maintain, replace, repair and service 
or cause to be installed, maintained, replaced, repaired, and serviced, wires, ducts 
or other installations in, under or through the Lands and Premises for or in 
connection with the supply of any service or utility to any part of the Lands and 
Premises; 

 Seasonal Closure 

The Lessee shall contact the Lessor at the end and beginning of each season to 
perform winterizing and de-winterizing procedures, which shall not occur prior to 
October 31 annually. The Lessor shall not charge a fee for this service. Should 
servicing upgrades be completed then there will be no seasonal closure.  

 Winter Storage 

The Lessee is permitted to store items such as furniture and books within the 
Premises from November 1 to April 30, provided such items are incidental to the 



Lease Agreement – Pioneer Hotel 1 (Jenni House) Page 7 

programming, activities and events offered by the Lessee during the summer 
months. Absolutely no food or other pest attractants shall be stored within the 
Premises. The Lessee shall not regularly access the Premises during the winter 
months. The Lessee shall maintain insurance coverage throughout the year in 
accordance with Section 5.4.  

 Vacant Possession 

The Lessee shall at the expiration or earlier termination of this Lease, peaceably 
surrender and deliver up vacant possession of the Lands and Premises in the 
condition required herein and deliver to the Lessor all keys, operation manuals, 
logs and such documents as are reasonably requested which relate to the Lands 
and Premises. 

3. Covenants of Lessor 
 Promises of Lessor 

The Lessor covenants with the Lessee as follows: 
 Quiet Enjoyment 

The Lessee, paying the rent hereby reserved and performing the covenants herein 
on its part contained, shall and may peaceably possess and enjoy the Lands and 
Premises for the terms of this Lease or any renewal thereof without interruption or 
disturbance from the Lessor or any other person lawfully claiming by, from or under 
the Lessor; 

 Repairs 
The Lessor shall make any necessary repairs to any structural defects or 
weaknesses in the Premises not caused by the Lessee, its agents, employees or 
invitees and, in so doing, shall, to the extent possible, not unduly disrupt the 
Lessee’s business; 

 Vandalism 
The Lessor shall make any repairs to the exterior of the Premises resulting from 
vandalism of the Premises including the removal of spray paint and graffiti; 

 HVAC Systems 
The Lessor shall be responsible for major repairs to or any required replacements 
of any heating, ventilation and air conditioning (HVAC) systems in the Premises 
not caused by the Lessee, its agents, employees or invitees and, in doing such 
work, the Lessor shall to the extent possible, not unduly disrupt the Lessee’s 
business; and 

 Grounds 
The Lessor shall provide lawn care and maintenance for all that portion of the 
Lands not occupied by buildings.  



Lease Agreement – Pioneer Hotel 1 (Jenni House) Page 8 

4. Rights and Remedies of the Lessor 
 Re-entry 

If default or breach or non-performance of any of the covenants or agreements in this 
Lease contained on the part of the Lessee continues for 30 days after written notice 
thereof has been given by the Lessor to the Lessee, then it shall be lawful for the Lessor 
at any time thereafter without notice to re-enter the Lands and the same to have again, 
repossess and enjoy as of its former estate, anything herein contained to the contrary 
notwithstanding. If the Lessor re-enters the Lands and Premises by reason of the default 
of the Lessee prior to the expiry of the term of this lease, the Lessee will be liable to the 
Lessor for the amount of rent for the remainder of the term as if such re-entry had not 
been made, less the actual amount received by the Lessor after such re-entry from any 
subsequent leasing of the Lands during the remainder of the term after deducting the 
Lessor's costs of re-letting the Lands. 

 Right of Termination 

Upon the Lessor becoming entitled to re-enter upon the Lands and Premises, the Lessor 
shall have the right in addition to all other rights, to determine forthwith this lease by giving 
notice in writing to the Lessee and thereupon rent shall be apportioned and paid to the 
date of such determination and the Lessee shall forthwith deliver up possession of the 
Lands and Premises and the Lessor may re-enter and take possession of the same. 

 Bankruptcy 

If the term hereof or any renewal thereof shall at any time be seized or taken in execution 
or attachment by any creditor of the Lessee or if the Lessee makes any assignment for 
the benefit of creditors or becomes bankrupt or insolvent or takes the benefit of any 
bankruptcy or insolvency legislation or in case the Lands and Premises become vacant 
or unoccupied for a period of 10 days, the then current month's rent together with the rent 
accruing for the balance of the term or the next three months, whichever is less, shall 
immediately become due and payable and the term hereof or any renewal thereof shall 
at the option of the Lessor become forfeited and void. Neither this Lease nor any interest 
therein nor any estate hereby created shall pass to or enure to the benefit of any trustee 
in bankruptcy or any receiver of any assignee for the benefit of creditors or otherwise by 
operation of law. 

 Distress 

Whensoever the Lessor shall be entitled to levy distress against the goods and chattels 
of the Lessee, the Lessor may use such force as it may deem necessary for that purpose 
and for gaining admittance to the Lands and Premises without being liable in any action 
in respect thereof, or for any loss or damage occasioned thereby and the Lessee hereby 
expressly releases the Lessor from all actions, proceedings, claims or demands 
whatsoever for or on account of or in respect of any such forcible entry or any loss or 
damage sustained by the Lessee in connection therewith. 

 Distress not Waiver 

The exercise by the Lessor of its right of distraint for a breach or breaches by the Lessee 
shall not act as a waiver of such breach or breaches and the Lessor may, at its sole and 



Lease Agreement – Pioneer Hotel 1 (Jenni House) Page 9 

unfettered discretion, after distraining or during a distraint after seizing and before the 
disposal of the distrained goods has been completed, exercise any of its other remedies 
hereunder provided or provided by law or in equity without affecting the distraint, whether 
completed or not, and, if not completed, the Lessee hereby agrees that the Lessor may 
complete the distraint whether or not the Lessee has determined this Lease. 

 Non-waiver 

The waiver by the Lessor of any breach by the Lessee of any covenant or condition 
contained in this Lease shall not be construed as or constitute a waiver of any further or 
other breach of the same or any other covenant or condition, and the consent or approval 
of the Lessor to or of any act by the Lessee requiring the Lessor's consent or approval 
shall not be deemed to waive or render unnecessary the Lessor's consent or approval to 
any subsequent act, similar or otherwise, by the Lessee. 

 Lessor's Right to Perform 

If the Lessee fails to perform any of the covenants or obligations of the Lessee under or 
in respect of this Lease, the Lessor may from time to time, at its discretion, perform or 
cause to be performed any such covenants or obligations or any part thereof and for such 
purpose may do such things as may be required and may enter upon the Lands and 
Premises to do such things and all expenses incurred and expenditures made by or on 
behalf of the Lessor shall be paid forthwith by the Lessee to the Lessor and if the Lessee 
fails to pay the same the Lessor may add the same to the rent and recover the same by 
all remedies available to the Lessor for the recovery of rent in arrears; provided that if the 
Lessor commences or completes either the performance or causing to be performed of 
any of such covenants or obligations or any part thereof, the Lessor shall not be obliged 
to complete such performance or causing to be performed or be later obliged to act in a 
like fashion. 

 Interest 

The Lessee shall pay to the Lessor interest at 1.5% per month being 19.62% per annum 
on all overdue payments of rent and other sums required to be paid under this Lease, 
from the date upon which the same were due until actual payment thereof. 

 Status as a Society 

In the event the Lessee is dissolved, wound up or struck from the Corporate Registry, 
fails to maintain its status as a registered Society, or is in default of filing returns or notices, 
including its annual return and financial statements for a period in excess of one (1) year, 
or is otherwise no longer a not-for-profit society or organization, the Lessor shall have the 
absolute right to terminate this Lease upon giving the Lessee written notice to that effect. 
In the event the Lease is terminated pursuant to the provisions of this paragraph, the Lands 
and Premises shall become the sole property of the Lessor. 

5. Indemnification 
 Indemnity by Lessee 

Except for or in respect of events caused by the Lessor's actions, or those for who it is at 
law responsible, arising out of the use and occupation of the Lands and Premises, 



Lease Agreement – Pioneer Hotel 1 (Jenni House) Page 10 

including wilful misconduct or negligence during the Term, the Lessee shall indemnify the 
Lessor and all of its servants, agents, employees, contractors, invitees and persons for 
whom the Lessor is in law responsible and shall hold them and each of them harmless 
from and against any and all liabilities, claims, damages, losses and expenses, including 
all legal fees, on a solicitor-and-own-client basis, or in the alternative, the highest rate 
allowed for the taxation of costs under the Rules of Court and disbursements, due to, 
arising from or to the extent contributed to by: 
(a) any breach by the Lessee of any of the provisions of this Lease; 
(b) any act or omission of the Lessee of any of its members, servants, agents, 

employees, invitees, licensees, sub-tenants, concessionaires, contractors or 
persons for whom the Lessee is in law responsible on the Lands and Premises; 

(c) any injury, death or damage to persons or property of the Lessee or its members, 
servants, agents, employees, customers, invitees, contractors or any other 
persons on the Lands and Premises by or with the invitation, license or consent of 
the Lessee; 

(d) any damage, destruction or need of repair to any part of the Premises caused by 
any act or omission of the Lessee or its members, servants, agents, employees, 
customers, invitees, contractors, or persons for whom the Lessee is in law 
responsible, notwithstanding any other provisions of this Lease; and 

(e) any latent or patent defect in the Lands and Premises; 
and this Indemnity shall survive the expiration or earlier termination of this Lease. In the 
event that the Lessor incurs liabilities, claims, damages, losses and expenses which are 
not paid by the Lessee or acknowledged by the insurer of the Lessee, within one year of 
written demand being made by the Lessor for indemnity pursuant to the provisions herein, 
this Lease shall terminate. 

 Indemnity by Lessor 

Except for or in respect of events caused by the Lessee's actions, or those for whom it is 
at law responsible, arising out of the use and occupation of the Lands and Premises, 
including wilful misconduct or negligence during the term of this Lease, the Lessor shall 
indemnify the Lessee and all of its servants, agents, employees, contractors, customers, 
invitees and persons for whom the Lessee is in law responsible and shall hold them and 
each of them harmless from and against any and all liabilities, claims, damages, losses 
and expenses, including all legal fees, on a solicitor-and-own-client basis, or in the 
alternative, the highest rate allowed for the taxation of costs under the Rules of Court and 
disbursements, due to, arising from or to the extent contributed to by: 
(a) any breach by the Lessor of any of the provisions of this Lease; 
(b) any act or omission of the Lessor or any of its servants, agents, employees, 

contractors or persons for whom the Lessor is in law responsible on the Lands and 
Premises; and 

(c) any injury, death or damage to persons or property of the Lessor or its servants, 
agents, employees, contractors or any other persons on the Lands and Premises 
by or with the invitation or consent of the Lessor; 



Lease Agreement – Pioneer Hotel 1 (Jenni House) Page 11 

except for any latent or patent defect in the Lands and Premises, and this Indemnity shall 
survive the expiration or earlier termination of this Lease. 

 Lessor Unable to Perform 

Whenever and to the extent that the Lessor shall be unable to fulfil or shall be delayed or 
restricted in the fulfilment of any obligation hereunder in respect of the supply or provision 
of any service or utility or the doing of any work by reason of being unable to obtain the 
material goods, equipment, service, utility or labour required to enable it to fulfil such 
obligation or by reason of any strike or lock-out or any statute, law, or order-in-council or 
any regulation or order passed or made pursuant thereto or by reason of the order or 
direction of any administration, controller or board or any governmental department or 
officer or other authority or by reason of any cause beyond its control either of the 
foregoing character or not, the Lessor shall be relieved from the fulfilment of such 
obligation and the Lessee shall not be entitled to compensation for any loss, 
inconvenience, nuisance or discomfort thereby occasioned. 

 Liability Insurance 

The Lessee shall provide and maintain in such form and to such extent and with such 
companies as required by the Lessor, public liability insurance in the minimum amount of 
$5,000,000.00 for the protection against any claims in any way relating to the Lands and 
Premises. This public liability insurance shall be increased by the Lessee upon the written 
request of the Lessor. Such policy shall designate both the Lessor and the Lessee as the 
insured and provide that the same cannot be cancelled without at least 15 days prior 
written notice to the Lessor. The Lessee shall deposit with the Lessor a certificate of such 
insurance at or prior to the commencement of the term and thereafter within 10 days prior 
to the expiration of any such policy. The Lessee’s insurance shall be in effect for the 
duration of the lease term. 

 Contents Insurance 

The Lessee shall provide and maintain their own insurance for the contents of the 
Premises. The Lessee’s contents insurance shall be in effect for the duration of the lease 
term. 

 Condition of Lands and Premises 

The Lessee will examine the Lands and Premises before taking possession thereof under 
this Lease and unless the Lessee has furnished the Lessor with notice in writing 
specifying any defects in the construction or condition of the Lands and Premises, the 
Lessee shall conclusively be deemed to have examined the Lands and Premises and to 
have found the Lands and Premises in good order and satisfactory condition. The Lessee 
acknowledges that there are no promises, representations or undertakings by the Lessor 
as to any alterations, remodelling or decorating of the Lands and Premises or installations 
of equipment or fixtures therein except such, if any, as are expressly set forth in this 
Lease. 



Lease Agreement – Pioneer Hotel 1 (Jenni House) Page 12 

 Relief of Lessor on Sale 

If the Lessor sells or otherwise conveys its interest in the Lands and Premises and the 
subsequent owner of such interest assumes the covenants and obligations of the Lessor 
hereunder, the Lessor shall, without further written agreement, be freed and relieved of 
all liability for such covenants and obligations. The Lessee shall from time to time at the 
request of the Lessor promptly execute and return to the Lessor such certificates 
confirming the current status of this Lease in such detail as the Lessor may require. 

6. Hazardous Substances 
 Definitions 

“Hazardous Substance” means any substance which is hazardous to persons or property 
and includes, without limiting the generality of the foregoing: 
(1) radioactive materials; 
(2) explosives, excluding lawfully possessed ammunition; 
(3) any substance that, if added to any water, would degrade or alter or form part of a 

process of degradation or alteration of the quality of that water to the extent that it 
is detrimental to its use by man or by any animal, fish or plant; 

(4) any solid, liquid, gas or odour or combination of any of them that, if emitted into the 
air, would create or contribute to the creation of a condition of the air that: 
(a) endangers the health, safety or welfare of persons or the health of animal 

life; 
(b) interferes with normal enjoyment of life or property; or 
(c) causes damage to plant life or to property; 

(5) toxic substances; or 
(6) substances declared to be hazardous or toxic under any law or regulation now or 

hereafter enacted or promulgated by any governmental authority having 
jurisdiction over the Lessor, the Lessee, or the Lands and Premises. 

 Compliance with Laws 

The Lessee shall not bring upon the Lands and Premises or any part thereof any 
Hazardous Substance. Without limiting the generality of the foregoing, the Lessee shall, 
at the Lessee's own cost and expense, comply with all laws and regulations from time to 
time in force relating to a Hazardous Substance and protection of the environment, and 
shall immediately give written notice to the Lessor of the occurrence of any event on the 
Lands and Premises constituting an offence thereunder or being in breach thereof and, if 
the Lessee, either alone or with others, causes the happening of such event, the Lessee 
shall, at its own expense, immediately give the Lessor notice to that effect and thereafter 
give the Lessor from time to time written notice of the extent and nature of the Lessee's 
compliance with this Paragraph 6; promptly remove the Hazardous Substance from the 
Lands and Premises, as the case may be, in a manner which conforms with all laws and 
regulations governing the movement of the same; and if requested by the Lessor, obtain 
from an independent consultant designated or approved by the Lessor a report verifying 
the complete and proper removal thereof from the Lands and Premises or, if such is not 



Lease Agreement – Pioneer Hotel 1 (Jenni House) Page 13 

the case, reporting as to the extent and nature of any failure to comply with this 
Paragraph. 
The Lessee shall, at its own expense, remedy any damage to the Lands and Premises 
caused by such event or by the performance of the Lessee's obligations under this 
Paragraph 6 as a result of such occurrence. 
If any governmental authority having jurisdiction requires the clean-up of any Hazardous 
Substance held, released, spilled, abandoned, or placed upon the Lands and Premises 
or released into the environment by the Lessee in the course of the Lessee's business or 
as a result of the Lessee's use or occupancy of the Lands and Premises, then the Lessee 
shall, at its own expense, prepare all necessary studies, plans and proposals and submit 
the same for approval, provide all bonds and other security required by governmental 
authorities having jurisdiction and carry out the work required and shall keep the Lessor 
fully informed and provide to the Lessor full information with respect to proposed plans 
and comply with the Lessor's reasonable requirements with respect to such plans. 

 Discharge 

The Lessee shall not discharge or permit the discharge of any oil or grease or any 
deleterious, objectionable, dangerous materials or Hazardous Substance into any water 
course, culvert, drain or sewers in, under or near the Lands and Premises. The Lessee 
shall take all reasonable measures for ensuring that any discharge effluent shall not be 
corrosive, poisonous or otherwise harmful or to cause obstruction, deposit or pollution to 
any waters, ditches, water course, culverts, drains or sewers, nor to or within any sewage 
disposal works nor to the bacteriological process of sewage purification. The Lessee shall 
forthwith, at the Lessor's request, provide facilities for testing and monitoring the effluent 
from the Lessee's operations and shall permit the Lessor and its agents reasonable 
access to the lands for the purposes of carrying out such testing and monitoring from time 
to time at the Lessee's expense. 
The Lessee shall construct, maintain and operate every furnace and burner used on the 
Lands and Premises so as to substantially consume or burn the smoke arising there from 
and shall not use or suffer any furnace or burner to be used negligently. 
The Lessee shall not cause or permit any grit, dust, noxious or offensive effluvia or 
Hazardous Substance to be emitted from any engine, furnace, burner or apparatus on 
the Lands and Premises without using the best practicable means reasonably available 
for preventing or counteracting such emissions. 

 Ownership of Hazardous Substances 

If the Lessee brings onto or creates upon the Lands and Premises any Hazardous 
Substance or if the conduct of the Lessee's business causes there to be any Hazardous 
Substance upon the Lands and Premises, then, notwithstanding any rule of law to the 
contrary, such Hazardous Substance shall be and remain the sole and exclusive property 
of the Lessee and shall not become the property of the Lessor, notwithstanding the 
degree of affixation of the Hazardous Substance or the goods containing the Hazardous 
Substance to the Lands and Premises and notwithstanding the expiry or earlier 
termination of this Lease. 



Lease Agreement – Pioneer Hotel 1 (Jenni House) Page 14 

 Access to Information 

The Lessee hereby authorizes the Lessor to make enquiries from time to time of any 
government or governmental agency with respect to the Lessee's compliance with any 
and all laws and regulations pertaining to any Hazardous Substance and the protection 
of the environment and the Lessee covenants and agrees that the Lessee shall from time 
to time provide to the Lessor such written authorization as the Lessor may reasonably 
require in order to facilitate the obtaining of such information. The Lessee shall, at its own 
expense, comply with all the laws and regulations from time to time in force regulating the 
manufacture, use, storage, transportation or disposal of Hazardous Substance and shall 
make, obtain and deliver all reports and studies required by governmental authorities 
having jurisdiction. 

7. Termination 
It is hereby agreed that during the term hereof, or any renewal thereof, the Lessor or the 
Lessee may terminate the Lease by giving notice in writing two months before such 
determination, and on the day following the date specified in the notice, this Lease is 
terminated. 

8. General Provisions 
 Subordination 

This Lease is subject and subordinate to all mortgages, easements, or rights of way which 
now or hereafter during the term of this Lease or any renewal thereof shall be recorded 
in the Land Titles Office as a mortgage, easement, or right of way given by the Lessor 
against the Lands and Premises. The Lessee shall execute promptly from time to time 
any assurances that the Lessor may request to confirm this subordination. 

 No Agency or Partnership 

Nothing herein contained shall be construed as creating the relationship of principal and 
agent or of partners or of joint ventures between the parties hereto, their only relationship 
being that of landlord and tenant. 

 Over-holding 

If the Lessee continues to occupy the Lands and Premises with the consent of the Lessor 
after the expiration of this Lease or any renewal thereof without any further written 
agreement, the Lessee shall be a monthly Lessee at a monthly rental equivalent to 1/12 
of the annual rental and all other sums payable hereunder pro-rated for one month. 

 Effect of Headings 

The headings or subheadings to the clauses in this Lease form no part thereof, and are 
inserted for convenience and internal reference only and are not to be relied upon or 
considered by any person in the interpretation hereof. 



Lease Agreement – Pioneer Hotel 1 (Jenni House) Page 15 

 Notices 

Any notice required to be given hereunder by any party shall be deemed to have been 
well and sufficiently given if mailed by prepaid, registered mail, emailed or delivered at 
the address of the other party hereinafter set forth:  
 

If to the Lessor: City of Whitehorse 
Attention: Manager, Land and Building Services 
2121 Second Avenue 
Whitehorse, Yukon, Y1A 1C2 

 Email: land@whitehorse.ca 
  
If to the Lessee: Yukon Film Society 

Attention: Operations Manager, Yukon Film Society 
212 Lambert Street 
Whitehorse, Yukon, Y1A 1Z4 
Email: operations@yukonfilmsociety.com 
 

A notice shall be deemed to have been received, telexed, telegraphed or delivered, on 
the date of delivery and if mailed as aforesaid then on the fifth business day following the 
posting thereof, provided that in the event of disruption of postal, telex or telegraph 
services a notice shall be given by one of the other methods of communication. 

 Solicitor and Client Costs 

If the Lessee defaults in paying the rent hereunder or in performing any of the covenants 
and agreements herein contained on the part of the Lessee to be observed and 
performed, the Lessor may recover from the Lessee all of the Lessor's reasonable costs 
in enforcing compliance with this Lease and without limitation, costs as between solicitor-
and-own-client or in the alternative, costs at the highest tariff allowed under the Rules of 
Court. 

 Binding Agreement 

This Lease shall be binding upon and enure to the benefit of the parties hereto and their 
respective successors and permitted assigns as the case may be. This Lease is not 
assignable by the Lessee without the express written consent of the Lessor, which may 
be arbitrarily and unreasonably withheld. 

 Interpretation of Words 

Wherever the singular or the masculine is used in this Lease, the same shall be deemed 
to include the plural or the feminine or the body politic or corporate where the context or 
the parties so require. 

 Time of Essence 

Time shall in all respects be of the essence hereof. 
 



Lease Agreement – Pioneer Hotel 1 (Jenni House) Page 16 

 Changes to Agreement 

No provision of this Lease shall be deemed to have been changed unless made in writing 
signed by the Lessor and Lessee, and if any provision is unenforceable or invalid for any 
reason whatever, such unenforceability or invalidity shall not affect the remaining 
provisions of this Lease and such provisions shall be severable from the remainder of this 
Lease. 

 Acceptance by Lessee 

The Lessee does hereby accept this Lease of the Lands and Premises, to be held by it 
as tenant, and subject to the conditions, restrictions and covenants above set forth. 

 
IN WITNESS WHEREOF the parties hereto have hereunto executed this Lease as of the 
day and year first written above in the City of Whitehorse, in the Yukon Territory. 

) THE CORPORATE SEAL OF 
) The City of Whitehorse 
) was hereunto affixed in the presence of: 
) 
) 
) _______________________________ 
) Kirk Cameron, Mayor 
) 
) _______________________________ 
) Valerie Braga, Director of Corporate Services 
 
 
 
 
) Yukon Film Society 
) Per: 
) 
) 

 ) _______________________________ 
 ) Noel Sinclair, President 

 
 



 

CORPORATE SIGNING AUTHORITY 

AFFIDAVIT 

 

 

CANADA   )    I, Noel Sinclair,  

)    of the City of Whitehorse, 

YUKON TERRITORY )    in the Yukon Territory, 

)     

TO  WIT:   )    SEVERALLY MAKE OATH AND SAY AS FOLLOWS: 

 

 

1) I am the President of Yukon Film Society (the “Society”). 

 

2) I have subscribed my name on behalf of the Society to the attached instrument.  

 

3) I am authorized by the Society to subscribe my name to the attached instrument. 

 

4) The Society exists as of the date hereof.  

 

 

 

SWORN BEFORE ME ) 

at the City of Whitehorse in the ) 

Yukon Territory, this _____ day ) 

of __________________, 2024. ) 

 ) 

 ) 

 ) 

                                                                      )       

(Signature of Notary Public) ) Noel Sinclair, President 

 ) 

 )  

 )  

                                                                      )    

(print full name) ) 

 ) 

A Notary Public in and for Yukon; )  

or Notary Public or Commissioner for ) 

Oaths in and for __________________  ) 

(My commission expires:______________) ) 

    



Pioneer Hotel 1 (Jenni House)
Lease Area = ± 110 square metres

± 11.2 m

± 9.8 m

Lot 8 REM
Group 5 (804)
Plan 20502 LTO

Pioneer Hotel 1

(Jenni House)

Chambers House

Riverfront Trail

Block 330
Plan 2003-0151 LTO

running / skating track

± 11.2 m
± 9.8 m

Pion
ee

r H
ote

l 2

(H
atc

h H
ou

se
)

para ramp

Lease Agreement -Yukon Film Society - Schedual A

CITY OF WHITEHORSE - LAND AND BUILDING SERVICES

Pioneer Hotel 1 (Jenni House), Shipyards Park, Portion of Lot 8
(REM), Group 5 (804), Plan20502 LTO and Portion of Block 330, 

Plan2003-0151 LTO, Whitehorse, Yukon. 
Municipal Address #2235 2ND AVENUE

SCALE:

DATE:

FILE No:

DWN BY:

REV No:

Lease Bylaw 2024-XX 

\Shipyards Park Leases\Pioneer Hotel 1

MLB

110/25/2024

0 2.5 5 7.5 10 12.51.25
Meters

1:250

Ü



CITY OF WHITEHORSE 

BYLAW 2024-55 

A bylaw to authorize a lease agreement with Yukon Literacy Coalition with respect to the 
heritage property Pioneer Hotel 2 

WHEREAS section 265 of the Municipal Act (2002) provides that Council may pass 
bylaws for municipal purposes respecting the municipality’s leasing of any real or 
personal property; and 

WHEREAS it is deemed desirable that the City enter into an agreement with Yukon 
Literacy Coalition for the lease of the heritage property Pioneer Hotel 2, also known as 
Hatch House, and a 314 Square Metre parcel of land for a three year lease term from 
November 1, 2024 to and including October 31, 2027 with the potential for a three year 
renewal; 

NOW THEREFORE the council of the municipality of the City of Whitehorse, in open 
meeting assembled, hereby ENACTS AS FOLLOWS: 

1. The City of Whitehorse is hereby authorized to enter into a lease agreement with 
Yukon Literacy Coalition with respect to that portion of Lot 8 (Remainder), Group 5 
(804), Plan 20502 LTO, in the City of Whitehorse, as shown on the sketch attached 
hereto as Appendix “A” and forming part of this bylaw. 

2. The Mayor and Corporate Services are hereby authorized to execute on behalf of 
the City of Whitehorse the Lease Agreement attached hereto as Appendix “B” and 
forming part of this bylaw. 

3. This bylaw shall come into full force and effect upon the final passing thereof. 

FIRST and SECOND READING:  
THIRD READING and ADOPTION:  
 
 

______________________________ 
Mayor 

______________________________ 
Corporate Services 
 
 
 



Pioneer Hotel 2 (Hatch House)
Lease Area = ± 314 square metres

± 7
.5 

m

± 1
7.0

 m

± 5.4 m

± 17.5 m

± 21.6 m

Lot 8 REM
Group 5 (804)
Plan 20502 LTO

Pioneer Hotel 1

(Jenni House)

Riverfront Trail

Block 330
Plan 2003-0151 LTO

± 9.0 m

± 1.0 m

Pion
ee

r H
ote

l 2

(H
atc

h H
ou

se
)

para ramp

Ü

0 2.5 5 7.5 10 12.51.25
Meters

CITY OF WHITEHORSE
BYLAW 2024-55
APPENDIX 'A'

BYLAW 2024-55 A bylaw to authorize the City of Whitehorse to enter into 
a lease agreement with Yukon Literacy Coalition with respect to the heritage 
property known as Pioneer Hotel 2 (Hatch House), comprising approximately 
314 square metres.

LEGEND
SUBJECT AREA



BYLAW 2024-55 
ATTACHMENT “2” 

THIS LEASE AGREEMENT, made the _____ day of ____________, 2024 in triplicate, 
to be effective as of and from the 1st day of November 2024. 

BETWEEN 
The City of Whitehorse, a municipality duly incorporated pursuant to 
the provisions of the Municipal Act 

(the “Lessor”) 
AND 

Yukon Literacy Coalition 
(the “Lessee”) 

WHEREAS 
A. The Lessor is the tenant of a portion of the Lands described in the Amended

Description of Land in the Addendum Document dated April 17, 2024 pursuant to a
Lease Agreement (Bylaw 2007-17) with Yukon Government (the “Lease
Agreement”);

B. The Lessee will occupy the building known as the Pioneer Hotel 2 – also known
as the Hatch House – which the Lessee will operate as a downtown location for
the Family Literacy Centre (the “Premises”);

C. The Premises are situated on the Lands and the Lessee desires to enter into a
lease agreement with the Lessor in accordance with the terms and conditions
contained in this lease.

1. Demise
Lease

Witness that in consideration of the rents, covenants, conditions and agreements herein 
reserved and contained on the part of the Lessee to be paid, observed and performed, 
the Lessor, being lease holder of the Government of Yukon under the lease Agreement, 
does hereby demise and lease unto the Lessee on the terms and conditions herein 
contained, the Premises and that parcel of land more particularly described as follows: 
(1) That portion of Lot 8 (Remainder), Group 5 (804), Plan 20502 LTO, City of

Whitehorse, Yukon Territory;
Comprising approximately 314 square metres more or less and shown outlined in yellow 
in the sketch attached hereto as Schedule “A” (the “Lands”). 

Term 

To have and to hold the Lands and Premises, within which the Lessee will operate as a 
programming, activities and events space for the Yukon Literacy Centre, for and during 
the term of November 1, 2024 up to and including October 31, 2027 and as a cold 
storage space from November 1 to April 30 annually. 

Rent 

Yielding and paying therefore during the term hereof unto the Lessor the sum of Five 
Hundred dollars ($500.00) per year, plus Goods and Services Tax, of lawful money of 
Canada to be paid in advance of the first day March each year. 



Lease Agreement – Pioneer Hotel 2 (Hatch House) Page 2 

 Property Taxes 

The tenant shall be responsible for all real property taxes including local improvements rates 
levied or assessed by any competent authority upon or in respect of the Land. 

 Carefree Lease 

The Lessee acknowledges that it is intended that this Lease be a net-net lease for the 
Lessor and that all and every cost, expense, charge or out lay of any nature whatsoever 
in any way related to the Lands and Premises or their occupancy by the Lessee shall be 
borne by the Lessee excepting as otherwise expressly provided herein. 

 Heritage Integrity 

The Lessor and Lessee hereby recognize that the Pioneer Hotel 2 (Hatch House) is a 
heritage building and that the historic integrity, especially the exterior, must be 
maintained. Any alterations, repairs, or applications for signage must receive prior 
approval from the Lessor. 

 Renewal of Lease 

The City Manager of the Landlord or its delegate may, in the last year of the initial term 
of this Lease, as specifically provided for by Bylaw 2024- 5, in its sole and unfettered 
discretion, which may be unreasonably withheld, grant to the Tenant one renewal of the 
Lease for a further three (3) year term, which shall not contain this section. 

 Parking 

The Lessee, their employees and any other individuals associated with the programs and 
activities associated with the building shall use the designated public parking area in the 
Shipyards Park parking lot for vehicle parking. The parking spaces are on a first-come, 
first-serve basis, with no reserved spaces. Vehicles are prohibited from driving and 
parking on any other land in Shipyards Park, unless there are exceptional circumstances 
and the Lessee has received verbal permission from the Lessor.  

 Access 

The Lessee agrees that vehicles shall not drive or park on any portion of Lot 8 
(Remainder), Group 5 (804), Plan 20502 LTO, City of Whitehorse, Yukon Territory without 
prior verbal permission from the Lessor. 

The Lessee further agrees that the formal pedestrian access route from the parking lot 
shall be by way of the waterfront trail rather than across the skating loop.  

 Special Events 

The Lessor and Lessee hereby recognize that special events and festivals will be 
occurring in Shipyards Park during the lease term, which may limit the availability of 
parking and compromise access to the Lands and Premises. The Lessor shall make every 
reasonable effort to ensure that access to the Lands and Premises is maintained during 
special events and festivals. In the event that access will be unable to be maintained to 
the Lands and Premises as a result of any special event or festival, the Lessor shall notify 



Lease Agreement – Pioneer Hotel 2 (Hatch House) Page 3 

the Lessee in advance of the special event or festival (not to include any regular events 
such as the weekly Fireweed Market). 

2. Covenants of Lessee 
 Promises of Lessee 

The Lessee covenants and agrees with the Lessor as follows: 
 Rent 

The Lessee shall during the terms of this lease or any renewal thereof pay to the 
Lessor the rent hereby reserved, and all other sums to be paid by the Lessee 
hereunder in the manner herein provided without any deduction whatsoever. The 
Lessee shall produce to the Lessor from time to time, at the request of the Lessor, 
satisfactory evidence of the due payment by the Lessee of all other payments 
required to be made by the Lessee under this lease; 

 Repair 
The Lessee shall maintain the Lands and Premises in good and substantial repair, 
damage by fire and other risks against which the Lessor is insured excepted (the 
“Lessee Repair Exceptions”); 

 Notice to Repair 

The Lessor and its agents may at all reasonable times enter the Lands and 
Premises to examine the condition thereof, and all want of repair that upon such 
examination may be found and for the amendment of which notice in writing is left 
at the Lands and Premises, the Lessee shall well and sufficiently repair and make 
good according to such notice within 15 days from the date on which such notice 
is left at the Lands and Premises, subject to the Lessee Repair Exceptions; 

 Care of Lands and Premises 

The Lessee shall take good care of the Lands and Premises and keep the same 
in a safe, tidy and healthy condition and shall, at its own expense, bear such costs 
as are reasonably necessary during the term of this lease to keep the Lands and 
Premises in such condition. The Lessee shall be responsible for clearing snow on 
the walkway between the waterfront trail and the entrance to the Premises; 

 Utilities 

The Lessee shall pay when due all rates and charges for electricity, water, sewer, 
telephone, cable, heating fuel, internet and any other utilities supplied to or used 
on or in the Lands and Premises as separately metered or separately invoiced by 
the supplier(s), including any utilities as supplied by the Lessor; 

 Security Alarm 
The Premises is equipped with a security system. The Lessee shall pay all charges 
for security alarm call-outs when the reason for the call-out is deemed to be a false 
alarm.  



Lease Agreement – Pioneer Hotel 2 (Hatch House) Page 4 

 Waste Diversion 
Waste diversion to extend the life of the City’s landfill is important to the Landlord 
and the citizens of the City of Whitehorse. As such, City Council has adopted the 
Waste Management Bylaw which bans or controls certain types of waste. The 
Tenant agrees that it shall comply with the Waste Management Bylaw at all times, 
including provision of sufficient recycling and compost bins on the Lands and 
Premises, to ensure that recyclable and organic waste are separated and diverted 
from the landfill as required by the Waste Management Bylaw. All costs associated 
with waste diversion shall be the responsibility of the Tenant; 

 Removal of Garbage 
The Lessee shall arrange at their cost for regular garbage collection of all garbage 
arising from the operation of the Lessee’s business or their occupation of the Lands 
and Premises. The Lessee shall also be responsible for cleaning all garbage and 
refuse from within the Lands and Premises which includes all areas within 3 metres 
of the building; 

 Business Taxes 

The Lessee shall pay when due all business taxes payable by the Lessee in 
respect of the Lessee's occupancy of the Lands and Premises; 

 Assignment and Subleasing 

The Lessee shall not assign, mortgage or encumber this Lease, or sublet, or suffer 
or permit the Lands and Premises or any part thereof to be used by others by 
license or otherwise, without the prior written consent of the Lessor, which consent 
may be arbitrarily and unreasonably withheld; 
Notwithstanding the foregoing, the Lessor authorizes the Lessee, at the Lessee’s 
sole discretion, to sublet the Lands and Premises to Yukon Film Society for the 
purposes of artist residency programming during the winter months (November 1 
to April 30 annually), provided Yukon Film Society maintains its status in good 
standing as a not-for-profit Society. 

 Use of Lands and Premises 

The Lessee shall not use the Lands and Premises nor allow the Lands and 
Premises to be used for any purpose other than as operations and programming 
for the Family Literacy Centre, or such other uses as are approved in writing by 
the Lessor. The Lessee may make application for temporary events outside the 
boundaries of the Lands and Premises, so long as they obtain written approval 
from the Lessor, whose consent may be arbitrarily and unreasonably withheld;  

 Nuisance 

The Lessee shall not at any time use, exercise, or carry on or permit to be used, 
exercised or carried on, in or upon the Lands and Premises or any part thereof any 
noxious, noisome, or offensive act, trade, business, occupation or calling and no 
act, matter or thing whatsoever shall at any time be done in or upon the Lands and 
Premises or any part thereof which is an unreasonable annoyance, nuisance or 
disturbance to the occupiers or owners of the adjoining lands and properties; 



Lease Agreement – Pioneer Hotel 2 (Hatch House) Page 5 

Insurance Risk 

The Lessee shall not do or permit to be done any act or thing which may render 
void or voidable or conflict with the requirements of any policy of insurance, on the 
Lands and Premises, including any regulations of fire insurance underwriters 
applicable to such policy. The Lessee shall ensure that all activities carried out or 
conducted on the Lands and Premises are done in accordance with the provisions 
of any policy of insurance that is in force, so that the Lessee and the Lessor have 
the benefit of such insurance. Any activity which cannot be insured for or which is 
specifically exempted from coverage under any policy of insurance that is in force 
shall not be permitted by the Lessee; 
Bylaws 

The Lessee shall comply with all statutes, regulations, and by-laws of any 
governmental authority relating in any way to the use or occupation of the Lands 
and Premises, including, without limiting the generality of the foregoing, all laws, 
regulations and bylaws affecting or relating to the sale or consumption of alcoholic 
beverages on the Lands and the Premises; 
Alterations 

The Lessee shall not make any alterations, installations, improvements or changes 
of any kind to the Lands and Premises without the prior written consent of the 
Lessor, and the Lessor may require that any or all work to be done or materials to 
be supplied hereunder, be done or supplied by contractors or workers approved 
by the Lessor; 
Fixtures 
All alterations, additions, improvements and fixtures to, in or upon the Lands and 
Premises including everything attached to any part of the Lands and Premises, 
other than the Lessee’s trade fixtures, machinery, plant and equipment, shall 
become the property of the Lessor and shall remain on the Lands and Premises 
at the expiration or earlier termination of the term, subject to such exceptions that 
the Lessor may consent to in writing; 
Removal of Goods, Chattels, or Fixtures 

The Lessee shall not remove from the Lands and Premises any goods or chattels 
moved into the Lands and Premises, except in the normal course of business, until 
all rent and other payments due or to become due during the term of this Lease 
are fully paid; 
No Permanent Structures 

The Lessee shall not construct, install or erect any permanent structures or 
buildings on the Lands or additions to the Premises without the express written 
consent of the Lessor; 
Builder's Liens 

The Lessee shall promptly pay all charges incurred by the Lessee for any work, 
materials or services that may be done, supplied or performed in respect of the 
Lands and Premises and shall not cause or permit any builder's lien to be 



Lease Agreement – Pioneer Hotel 2 (Hatch House) Page 6 

registered against the Lands and if any such lien should be so registered the 
Lessee shall pay off and discharge the same forthwith and, if he shall fail or neglect 
to do so within 10 days after written notice thereof from the Lessor, the Lessor may 
but shall not be obliged to, pay and discharge such lien and may add to the next 
ensuing instalment of rent the amount so paid including all costs to the Lessor 
together with interest thereon from the date of payment. 
Provided that in the event of a bona fide dispute by the Lessee of the validity or 
correctness of any such claim of lien, the Lessee shall be entitled to defend against 
the same and any proceedings brought in respect thereof after having first paid 
into Court the amount claimed and such costs as the Court may direct or having 
provided such other security as the Lessor may in writing approve to ensure 
payment thereof. Provided further that upon determination of the validity of any 
such lien, the Lessee shall immediately pay any judgment in respect thereof 
against the Lessor, including all proper costs and charges incurred by the Lessor 
and the Lessee in connection with any such lien and shall cause a discharge 
thereof to be registered without cost or expense to the Lessor; 

 Inspection 

The Lessee shall permit the Lessor or any other person authorized by the Lessor 
to inspect the Lands and Premises at all reasonable times; 

 Re-letting 
The Lessee shall permit the Lessor, at any time within 90 days prior to the 
expiration of the terms hereby granted, upon 24 hours’ notice to the Lessee, to 
enter upon the Premises at all reasonable hours for the purpose of offering the 
same for rent and exhibiting the same to prospective tenants and to place and 
keep upon the Premises, signs advertising the premises for rent; 

 Maintenance 

The Lessee shall permit the Lessor to install, maintain, replace, repair and service 
or cause to be installed, maintained, replaced, repaired, and serviced, wires, ducts 
or other installations in, under or through the Lands and Premises for or in 
connection with the supply of any service or utility to any part of the Lands and 
Premises; 

 Vacant Possession 

The Lessee shall at the expiration or earlier termination of this Lease, peaceably 
surrender and deliver up vacant possession of the Lands and Premises in the 
condition required herein and deliver to the Lessor all keys, operation manuals, 
logs and such documents as are reasonably requested which relate to the Lands 
and Premises. 



Lease Agreement – Pioneer Hotel 2 (Hatch House) Page 7 

3. Covenants of Lessor
Promises of Lessor

The Lessor covenants with the Lessee as follows: 
Quiet Enjoyment 

The Lessee, paying the rent hereby reserved and performing the covenants herein 
on its part contained, shall and may peaceably possess and enjoy the Lands and 
Premises for the terms of this Lease or any renewal thereof without interruption or 
disturbance from the Lessor or any other person lawfully claiming by, from or under 
the Lessor; 
Repairs 
The Lessor shall make any necessary repairs to any structural defects or 
weaknesses in the Premises not caused by the Lessee, its agents, employees or 
invitees and, in so doing, shall, to the extent possible, not unduly disrupt the 
Lessee’s business; 
Vandalism 
The Lessor shall make any repairs to the exterior of the Premises resulting from 
vandalism of the Premises including the removal of spray paint and graffiti; 
HVAC Systems 
The Lessor shall be responsible for major repairs to or any required replacements 
of any heating, ventilation and air conditioning (HVAC) systems in the Premises 
not caused by the Lessee, its agents, employees or invitees and, in doing such 
work, the Lessor shall to the extent possible, not unduly disrupt the Lessee’s 
business; and 
Grounds 
The Lessor shall provide lawn care and maintenance for all that portion of the 
Lands not occupied by buildings. 

4. Rights and Remedies of the Lessor
Re-entry

If default or breach or non-performance of any of the covenants or agreements in this 
Lease contained on the part of the Lessee continues for 30 days after written notice 
thereof has been given by the Lessor to the Lessee, then it shall be lawful for the Lessor 
at any time thereafter without notice to re-enter the Lands and the same to have again, 
repossess and enjoy as of its former estate, anything herein contained to the contrary 
notwithstanding. If the Lessor re-enters the Lands and Premises by reason of the default 
of the Lessee prior to the expiry of the term of this lease, the Lessee will be liable to the 
Lessor for the amount of rent for the remainder of the term as if such re-entry had not 
been made, less the actual amount received by the Lessor after such re-entry from any 
subsequent leasing of the Lands during the remainder of the term after deducting the 
Lessor's costs of re-letting the Lands. 



Lease Agreement – Pioneer Hotel 2 (Hatch House) Page 8 

 Right of Termination 

Upon the Lessor becoming entitled to re-enter upon the Lands and Premises, the Lessor 
shall have the right in addition to all other rights, to determine forthwith this lease by giving 
notice in writing to the Lessee and thereupon rent shall be apportioned and paid to the 
date of such determination and the Lessee shall forthwith deliver up possession of the 
Lands and Premises and the Lessor may re-enter and take possession of the same. 

 Bankruptcy 

If the term hereof or any renewal thereof shall at any time be seized or taken in execution 
or attachment by any creditor of the Lessee or if the Lessee makes any assignment for 
the benefit of creditors or becomes bankrupt or insolvent or takes the benefit of any 
bankruptcy or insolvency legislation or in case the Lands and Premises become vacant 
or unoccupied for a period of 10 days, the then current month's rent together with the rent 
accruing for the balance of the term or the next three months, whichever is less, shall 
immediately become due and payable and the term hereof or any renewal thereof shall 
at the option of the Lessor become forfeited and void. Neither this Lease nor any interest 
therein nor any estate hereby created shall pass to or enure to the benefit of any trustee 
in bankruptcy or any receiver of any assignee for the benefit of creditors or otherwise by 
operation of law. 

 Distress 

Whensoever the Lessor shall be entitled to levy distress against the goods and chattels 
of the Lessee, the Lessor may use such force as it may deem necessary for that purpose 
and for gaining admittance to the Lands and Premises without being liable in any action 
in respect thereof, or for any loss or damage occasioned thereby and the Lessee hereby 
expressly releases the Lessor from all actions, proceedings, claims or demands 
whatsoever for or on account of or in respect of any such forcible entry or any loss or 
damage sustained by the Lessee in connection therewith. 

 Distress not Waiver 

The exercise by the Lessor of its right of distraint for a breach or breaches by the Lessee 
shall not act as a waiver of such breach or breaches and the Lessor may, at its sole and 
unfettered discretion, after distraining or during a distraint after seizing and before the 
disposal of the distrained goods has been completed, exercise any of its other remedies 
hereunder provided or provided by law or in equity without affecting the distraint, whether 
completed or not, and, if not completed, the Lessee hereby agrees that the Lessor may 
complete the distraint whether or not the Lessee has determined this Lease. 

 Non-waiver 

The waiver by the Lessor of any breach by the Lessee of any covenant or condition 
contained in this Lease shall not be construed as or constitute a waiver of any further or 
other breach of the same or any other covenant or condition, and the consent or approval 
of the Lessor to or of any act by the Lessee requiring the Lessor's consent or approval 
shall not be deemed to waive or render unnecessary the Lessor's consent or approval to 
any subsequent act, similar or otherwise, by the Lessee. 



Lease Agreement – Pioneer Hotel 2 (Hatch House) Page 9 

 Lessor's Right to Perform 

If the Lessee fails to perform any of the covenants or obligations of the Lessee under or 
in respect of this Lease, the Lessor may from time to time, at its discretion, perform or 
cause to be performed any such covenants or obligations or any part thereof and for such 
purpose may do such things as may be required and may enter upon the Lands and 
Premises to do such things and all expenses incurred and expenditures made by or on 
behalf of the Lessor shall be paid forthwith by the Lessee to the Lessor and if the Lessee 
fails to pay the same the Lessor may add the same to the rent and recover the same by 
all remedies available to the Lessor for the recovery of rent in arrears; provided that if the 
Lessor commences or completes either the performance or causing to be performed of 
any of such covenants or obligations or any part thereof, the Lessor shall not be obliged 
to complete such performance or causing to be performed or be later obliged to act in a 
like fashion. 

 Interest 

The Lessee shall pay to the Lessor interest at 1.5% per month being 19.62% per annum 
on all overdue payments of rent and other sums required to be paid under this Lease, 
from the date upon which the same were due until actual payment thereof. 

 Status as a Society 

In the event the Lessee is dissolved, wound up or struck from the Corporate Registry, 
fails to maintain its status as a registered Society, or is in default of filing returns or notices, 
including its annual return and financial statements for a period in excess of one (1) year, 
or is otherwise no longer a not-for-profit society or organization, the Lessor shall have the 
absolute right to terminate this Lease upon giving the Lessee written notice to that effect. 
In the event the Lease is terminated pursuant to the provisions of this paragraph, the Lands 
and Premises shall become the sole property of the Lessor. 

5. Indemnification 
 Indemnity by Lessee 

Except for or in respect of events caused by the Lessor's actions, or those for who it is at 
law responsible, arising out of the use and occupation of the Lands and Premises, 
including wilful misconduct or negligence during the Term, the Lessee shall indemnify the 
Lessor and all of its servants, agents, employees, contractors, invitees and persons for 
whom the Lessor is in law responsible and shall hold them and each of them harmless 
from and against any and all liabilities, claims, damages, losses and expenses, including 
all legal fees, on a solicitor-and-own-client basis, or in the alternative, the highest rate 
allowed for the taxation of costs under the Rules of Court and disbursements, due to, 
arising from or to the extent contributed to by: 
(a) any breach by the Lessee of any of the provisions of this Lease; 
(b) any act or omission of the Lessee of any of its members, servants, agents, 

employees, invitees, licensees, sub-tenants, concessionaires, contractors or 
persons for whom the Lessee is in law responsible on the Lands and Premises; 



Lease Agreement – Pioneer Hotel 2 (Hatch House) Page 10 

(c) any injury, death or damage to persons or property of the Lessee or its members, 
servants, agents, employees, customers, invitees, contractors or any other 
persons on the Lands and Premises by or with the invitation, license or consent of 
the Lessee; 

(d) any damage, destruction or need of repair to any part of the Premises caused by 
any act or omission of the Lessee or its members, servants, agents, employees, 
customers, invitees, contractors, or persons for whom the Lessee is in law 
responsible, notwithstanding any other provisions of this Lease; and 

(e) any latent or patent defect in the Lands and Premises; 
and this Indemnity shall survive the expiration or earlier termination of this Lease. In the 
event that the Lessor incurs liabilities, claims, damages, losses and expenses which are 
not paid by the Lessee or acknowledged by the insurer of the Lessee, within one year of 
written demand being made by the Lessor for indemnity pursuant to the provisions herein, 
this Lease shall terminate. 

 Indemnity by Lessor 

Except for or in respect of events caused by the Lessee's actions, or those for whom it is 
at law responsible, arising out of the use and occupation of the Lands and Premises, 
including wilful misconduct or negligence during the term of this Lease, the Lessor shall 
indemnify the Lessee and all of its servants, agents, employees, contractors, customers, 
invitees and persons for whom the Lessee is in law responsible and shall hold them and 
each of them harmless from and against any and all liabilities, claims, damages, losses 
and expenses, including all legal fees, on a solicitor-and-own-client basis, or in the 
alternative, the highest rate allowed for the taxation of costs under the Rules of Court and 
disbursements, due to, arising from or to the extent contributed to by: 
(a) any breach by the Lessor of any of the provisions of this Lease; 
(b) any act or omission of the Lessor or any of its servants, agents, employees, 

contractors or persons for whom the Lessor is in law responsible on the Lands and 
Premises; and 

(c) any injury, death or damage to persons or property of the Lessor or its servants, 
agents, employees, contractors or any other persons on the Lands and Premises 
by or with the invitation or consent of the Lessor; 

except for any latent or patent defect in the Lands and Premises, and this Indemnity shall 
survive the expiration or earlier termination of this Lease. 

 Lessor Unable to Perform 

Whenever and to the extent that the Lessor shall be unable to fulfil or shall be delayed or 
restricted in the fulfilment of any obligation hereunder in respect of the supply or provision 
of any service or utility or the doing of any work by reason of being unable to obtain the 
material goods, equipment, service, utility or labour required to enable it to fulfil such 
obligation or by reason of any strike or lock-out or any statute, law, or order-in-council or 
any regulation or order passed or made pursuant thereto or by reason of the order or 
direction of any administration, controller or board or any governmental department or 
officer or other authority or by reason of any cause beyond its control either of the 



Lease Agreement – Pioneer Hotel 2 (Hatch House) Page 11 

foregoing character or not, the Lessor shall be relieved from the fulfilment of such 
obligation and the Lessee shall not be entitled to compensation for any loss, 
inconvenience, nuisance or discomfort thereby occasioned. 

 Liability Insurance 

The Lessee shall provide and maintain in such form and to such extent and with such 
companies as required by the Lessor, public liability insurance in the minimum amount of 
$5,000,000.00 for the protection against any claims in any way relating to the Lands and 
Premises. This public liability insurance shall be increased by the Lessee upon the written 
request of the Lessor. Such policy shall designate both the Lessor and the Lessee as the 
insured and provide that the same cannot be cancelled without at least 15 days prior 
written notice to the Lessor. The Lessee shall deposit with the Lessor a certificate of such 
insurance at or prior to the commencement of the term and thereafter within 10 days prior 
to the expiration of any such policy. The Lessee’s insurance shall be in effect for the 
duration of the lease term. 

 Contents Insurance 

The Lessee shall provide and maintain their own insurance for the contents of the 
Premises. The Lessee’s contents insurance shall be in effect for the duration of the lease 
term. 

 Condition of Lands and Premises 

The Lessee will examine the Lands and Premises before taking possession thereof under 
this Lease and unless the Lessee has furnished the Lessor with notice in writing 
specifying any defects in the construction or condition of the Lands and Premises, the 
Lessee shall conclusively be deemed to have examined the Lands and Premises and to 
have found the Lands and Premises in good order and satisfactory condition. The Lessee 
acknowledges that there are no promises, representations or undertakings by the Lessor 
as to any alterations, remodelling or decorating of the Lands and Premises or installations 
of equipment or fixtures therein except such, if any, as are expressly set forth in this 
Lease. 

 Relief of Lessor on Sale 

If the Lessor sells or otherwise conveys its interest in the Lands and Premises and the 
subsequent owner of such interest assumes the covenants and obligations of the Lessor 
hereunder, the Lessor shall, without further written agreement, be freed and relieved of 
all liability for such covenants and obligations. The Lessee shall from time to time at the 
request of the Lessor promptly execute and return to the Lessor such certificates 
confirming the current status of this Lease in such detail as the Lessor may require. 

6. Hazardous Substances 
 Definitions 

“Hazardous Substance” means any substance which is hazardous to persons or property 
and includes, without limiting the generality of the foregoing: 
(1) radioactive materials; 



Lease Agreement – Pioneer Hotel 2 (Hatch House) Page 12 

(2) explosives, excluding lawfully possessed ammunition; 
(3) any substance that, if added to any water, would degrade or alter or form part of a 

process of degradation or alteration of the quality of that water to the extent that it 
is detrimental to its use by man or by any animal, fish or plant; 

(4) any solid, liquid, gas or odour or combination of any of them that, if emitted into the 
air, would create or contribute to the creation of a condition of the air that: 
(a) endangers the health, safety or welfare of persons or the health of animal 

life; 
(b) interferes with normal enjoyment of life or property; or 
(c) causes damage to plant life or to property; 

(5) toxic substances; or 
(6) substances declared to be hazardous or toxic under any law or regulation now or 

hereafter enacted or promulgated by any governmental authority having 
jurisdiction over the Lessor, the Lessee, or the Lands and Premises. 

 Compliance with Laws 

The Lessee shall not bring upon the Lands and Premises or any part thereof any 
Hazardous Substance. Without limiting the generality of the foregoing, the Lessee shall, 
at the Lessee's own cost and expense, comply with all laws and regulations from time to 
time in force relating to a Hazardous Substance and protection of the environment, and 
shall immediately give written notice to the Lessor of the occurrence of any event on the 
Lands and Premises constituting an offence thereunder or being in breach thereof and, if 
the Lessee, either alone or with others, causes the happening of such event, the Lessee 
shall, at its own expense, immediately give the Lessor notice to that effect and thereafter 
give the Lessor from time to time written notice of the extent and nature of the Lessee's 
compliance with this Paragraph 6; promptly remove the Hazardous Substance from the 
Lands and Premises, as the case may be, in a manner which conforms with all laws and 
regulations governing the movement of the same; and if requested by the Lessor, obtain 
from an independent consultant designated or approved by the Lessor a report verifying 
the complete and proper removal thereof from the Lands and Premises or, if such is not 
the case, reporting as to the extent and nature of any failure to comply with this 
Paragraph. 
The Lessee shall, at its own expense, remedy any damage to the Lands and Premises 
caused by such event or by the performance of the Lessee's obligations under this 
Paragraph 6 as a result of such occurrence. 
If any governmental authority having jurisdiction requires the clean-up of any Hazardous 
Substance held, released, spilled, abandoned, or placed upon the Lands and Premises 
or released into the environment by the Lessee in the course of the Lessee's business or 
as a result of the Lessee's use or occupancy of the Lands and Premises, then the Lessee 
shall, at its own expense, prepare all necessary studies, plans and proposals and submit 
the same for approval, provide all bonds and other security required by governmental 
authorities having jurisdiction and carry out the work required and shall keep the Lessor 
fully informed and provide to the Lessor full information with respect to proposed plans 
and comply with the Lessor's reasonable requirements with respect to such plans. 



Lease Agreement – Pioneer Hotel 2 (Hatch House) Page 13 

 Discharge 

The Lessee shall not discharge or permit the discharge of any oil or grease or any 
deleterious, objectionable, dangerous materials or Hazardous Substance into any water 
course, culvert, drain or sewers in, under or near the Lands and Premises. The Lessee 
shall take all reasonable measures for ensuring that any discharge effluent shall not be 
corrosive, poisonous or otherwise harmful or to cause obstruction, deposit or pollution to 
any waters, ditches, water course, culverts, drains or sewers, nor to or within any sewage 
disposal works nor to the bacteriological process of sewage purification. The Lessee shall 
forthwith, at the Lessor's request, provide facilities for testing and monitoring the effluent 
from the Lessee's operations and shall permit the Lessor and its agents reasonable 
access to the lands for the purposes of carrying out such testing and monitoring from time 
to time at the Lessee's expense. 
The Lessee shall construct, maintain and operate every furnace and burner used on the 
Lands and Premises so as to substantially consume or burn the smoke arising there from 
and shall not use or suffer any furnace or burner to be used negligently. 
The Lessee shall not cause or permit any grit, dust, noxious or offensive effluvia or 
Hazardous Substance to be emitted from any engine, furnace, burner or apparatus on 
the Lands and Premises without using the best practicable means reasonably available 
for preventing or counteracting such emissions. 

 Ownership of Hazardous Substances 

If the Lessee brings onto or creates upon the Lands and Premises any Hazardous 
Substance or if the conduct of the Lessee's business causes there to be any Hazardous 
Substance upon the Lands and Premises, then, notwithstanding any rule of law to the 
contrary, such Hazardous Substance shall be and remain the sole and exclusive property 
of the Lessee and shall not become the property of the Lessor, notwithstanding the 
degree of affixation of the Hazardous Substance or the goods containing the Hazardous 
Substance to the Lands and Premises and notwithstanding the expiry or earlier 
termination of this Lease. 

 Access to Information 

The Lessee hereby authorizes the Lessor to make enquiries from time to time of any 
government or governmental agency with respect to the Lessee's compliance with any 
and all laws and regulations pertaining to any Hazardous Substance and the protection 
of the environment and the Lessee covenants and agrees that the Lessee shall from time 
to time provide to the Lessor such written authorization as the Lessor may reasonably 
require in order to facilitate the obtaining of such information. The Lessee shall, at its own 
expense, comply with all the laws and regulations from time to time in force regulating the 
manufacture, use, storage, transportation or disposal of Hazardous Substance and shall 
make, obtain and deliver all reports and studies required by governmental authorities 
having jurisdiction. 

7. Termination 
It is hereby agreed that during the term hereof, or any renewal thereof, the Lessor or the 
Lessee may terminate the Lease by giving notice in writing two months before such 



Lease Agreement – Pioneer Hotel 2 (Hatch House) Page 14 

determination, and on the day following the date specified in the notice, this Lease is 
terminated. 

8. General Provisions 
 Subordination 

This Lease is subject and subordinate to all mortgages, easements, or rights of way which 
now or hereafter during the term of this Lease or any renewal thereof shall be recorded 
in the Land Titles Office as a mortgage, easement, or right of way given by the Lessor 
against the Lands and Premises. The Lessee shall execute promptly from time to time 
any assurances that the Lessor may request to confirm this subordination. 

 No Agency or Partnership 

Nothing herein contained shall be construed as creating the relationship of principal and 
agent or of partners or of joint ventures between the parties hereto, their only relationship 
being that of landlord and tenant. 

 Over-holding 

If the Lessee continues to occupy the Lands and Premises with the consent of the Lessor 
after the expiration of this Lease or any renewal thereof without any further written 
agreement, the Lessee shall be a monthly Lessee at a monthly rental equivalent to 1/12 
of the annual rental and all other sums payable hereunder pro-rated for one month. 

 Effect of Headings 

The headings or subheadings to the clauses in this Lease form no part thereof, and are 
inserted for convenience and internal reference only and are not to be relied upon or 
considered by any person in the interpretation hereof. 

 Notices 

Any notice required to be given hereunder by any party shall be deemed to have been 
well and sufficiently given if mailed by prepaid, registered mail, emailed or delivered at 
the address of the other party hereinafter set forth:  

If to the Lessor: City of Whitehorse 
Attention: Manager, Land and Building Services 
2121 Second Avenue 
Whitehorse, Yukon, Y1A 1C2 

 Email: land@whitehorse.ca 
  
If to the Lessee: Yukon Literacy Coalition 

Attention: Executive Director, Yukon Literacy Coalition 
#207 – 100 Main Street 
Whitehorse, Yukon, Y1A 2A8 
Email: yukonliteracy@yukonliteracy.com 

A notice shall be deemed to have been received, telexed, telegraphed or delivered, on 
the date of delivery and if mailed as aforesaid then on the fifth business day following the 



Lease Agreement – Pioneer Hotel 2 (Hatch House) Page 15 

posting thereof, provided that in the event of disruption of postal, telex or telegraph 
services a notice shall be given by one of the other methods of communication. 

Solicitor and Client Costs 

If the Lessee defaults in paying the rent hereunder or in performing any of the covenants 
and agreements herein contained on the part of the Lessee to be observed and 
performed, the Lessor may recover from the Lessee all of the Lessor's reasonable costs 
in enforcing compliance with this Lease and without limitation, costs as between solicitor-
and-own-client or in the alternative, costs at the highest tariff allowed under the Rules of 
Court. 

Binding Agreement 

This Lease shall be binding upon and enure to the benefit of the parties hereto and their 
respective successors and permitted assigns as the case may be. This Lease is not 
assignable by the Lessee without the express written consent of the Lessor, which may 
be arbitrarily and unreasonably withheld. 

Interpretation of Words 

Wherever the singular or the masculine is used in this Lease, the same shall be deemed 
to include the plural or the feminine or the body politic or corporate where the context or 
the parties so require. 

 Time of Essence 

Time shall in all respects be of the essence hereof. 

Changes to Agreement 

No provision of this Lease shall be deemed to have been changed unless made in writing 
signed by the Lessor and Lessee, and if any provision is unenforceable or invalid for any 
reason whatever, such unenforceability or invalidity shall not affect the remaining 
provisions of this Lease and such provisions shall be severable from the remainder of this 
Lease. 



Lease Agreement – Pioneer Hotel 2 (Hatch House) Page 16 

) 
) _______________________________ 
) Kirk Cameron, Mayor 
) 
) _______________________________ 
) Valerie Braga, Director of Corporate Services 

) Yukon Literacy Coalition 
) Per: 
) 
) 
) 
) _______________________________ 
) Patricia Brennan, Vice President 

Acceptance by Lessee 

The Lessee does hereby accept this Lease of the Lands and Premises, to be held by it 
as tenant, and subject to the conditions, restrictions and covenants above set forth. 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF the parties hereto have hereunto executed this Lease as of the 
day and year first written above in the City of Whitehorse, in the Yukon Territory. 

) 
) 
) 

THE CORPORATE SEAL OF 
The City of Whitehorse 
was hereunto affixed in the presence of: 

) 



CORPORATE SIGNING AUTHORITY 

AFFIDAVIT 

CANADA )    I, Patricia Brennan, 

)    of the City of Whitehorse, 

YUKON TERRITORY )    in the Yukon Territory, 

)    

TO  WIT: )    SEVERALLY MAKE OATH AND SAY AS FOLLOWS: 

1) I am the Vice President of Literacy Coalition (the “Society”).

2) I have subscribed my name on behalf of the Society to the attached instrument.

3) I am authorized by the Society to subscribe my name to the attached instrument.

4) The Society exists as of the date hereof.

SWORN BEFORE ME ) 

at the City of Whitehorse in the ) 

Yukon Territory, this _____ day ) 

of __________________, 2024. ) 

) 

) 

) 

) 

(Signature of Notary Public) ) Patricia Brennan, Vice President 

) 

) 

) 

) 

(print full name) ) 

) 

A Notary Public in and for Yukon; ) 

or Notary Public or Commissioner for ) 

Oaths in and for __________________  ) 

(My commission expires:______________) ) 



Pioneer Hotel 2 (Hatch House)
Lease Area = ± 314 square metres

± 7
.5 

m

± 1
7.0

 m

± 5.4 m

± 17.5 m

± 21.6 m

Lot 8 REM
Group 5 (804)
Plan 20502 LTO

Pioneer Hotel 1

(Jenni House)

Riverfront Trail

Block 330
Plan 2003-0151 LTO

± 9.0 m

± 1.0 m

Pion
ee

r H
ote

l 2

(H
atc

h H
ou

se
)

running / skating
track

para ramp

Lease Agreement - Yukon Literacy Coalition  - Schedule A

CITY OF WHITEHORSE - LAND AND BUILDING SERVICES

Pioneer Hotel 2 (Hatch House), Shipyards Park, Portion of Lot 8 
(REM), Group 5 (804), Plan20502 LTO, Whitehorse, Yukon.

Municipal Address #2235 2ND AVENUE

SCALE:

DATE:

FILE No:

DWN BY:

REV No:

Lease Bylaw 2024-55

\Shipyards Park Leases\Pioneer Hotel 2

MLB

111/14/2024

0 2.5 5 7.5 10 12.51.25
Meters

Ü

1:250



CITY OF WHITEHORSE 

BYLAW 2024-56 

A bylaw to amend Bylaw 2007-17 and lease agreement with Yukon Government with 
respect to the 100-foot Crown Reserve in Shipyards Park. 

WHEREAS section 265 of the Municipal Act (2002) provides that Council may pass 
bylaws for municipal purposes respecting the municipality’s leasing of any real or 
personal property; and 

WHEREAS it is deemed desirable that the City enter into an agreement with Yukon 
Government to amend the lease agreement and sketch for the lease of Lot 8 
(Remainder), Group 5 (804), Plan 20502 LTO, also known as 100-foot Crown Reserve, 
with an  area of 1.269 hectares; 

NOW THEREFORE the council of the municipality of the City of Whitehorse, in open 
meeting assembled, hereby ENACTS AS FOLLOWS: 

1. The City of Whitehorse is hereby authorized to amend the lease agreement (Bylaw 
2007-17) with Yukon Government with respect to Lot 8 (Remainder), Group 5 
(804), Plan 20502 LTO, in the City of Whitehorse, as shown on the sketch attached 
hereto as Appendix “A” and forming part of this bylaw. 

2. The Mayor and Corporate Services are hereby authorized to execute on behalf of 
the City of Whitehorse the Amending Agreement and Lease Agreement Sketch 
attached hereto as Attachment 3 and forming part of this bylaw. 

3. This bylaw shall come into full force and effect upon the final passing thereof. 

FIRST and SECOND READING:  
THIRD READING and ADOPTION:  
 
 

______________________________ 
Mayor 

______________________________ 
Corporate Services 
 
 



LOT 8 (REMAINDER)
Group 5 (804), Plan 20502 LTO
Lease Area = ± 1.269 hectares

SHIPYARDS PARK
(City Owned)

Block 330
Plan 2003-0151 LTO

2ND AVENUE

RAY STREET

OGILVIE STREET

Ü

0 20 40 60 80 10010
Meters

CITY OF WHITEHORSE
BYLAW 2024-56
APPENDIX 'A'

BYLAW 2024-56 A bylaw to authorize the City of Whitehorse to amend the
lease agreement (Bylaw 2007-17) with Yukon Government with respect to
Lot 8 (REM), Group 5 (804), Plan 20502 LTO, also known as 100-foot Crown
Reserve, comprising approximately 1.269 hectares.

LEGEND
SUBJECT AREA



 

File: 105D11-06-0146 
Disposition: 2006-0146 

 

GOVERNMENT OF YUKON 
ADDENDUM DOCUMENT 

 
This Agreement made this 17th day of April 2024, is an Addendum to a Lease Agreement with the 
City of Whitehorse disposition number 2006-0146, Lease Agreement effective date of the 1st day 
of October 2006. 
 
BETWEEN: 

THE EXECUTIVE COUNCIL MEMBER 
OF YUKON AS REPRESENTED BY 

MANAGER, CLIENT SERVICES, LAND MANAGEMENT BRANCH 
hereinafter called 

 “Yukon" 

AND: 
THE CITY OF WHITEHORSE 

hereinafter called the  
"Lessee" 

 
Both parties hereto agree to the terms and conditions contained in Agreement number 2006-0146 and 
the lands described therein, namely: 
 
All that parcel of land comprising of 0.14 hectares, more or less, within Lot 8 REM, LTO 20502, 
CLSR 8406, in the Shipyard Park, in the City of Whitehorse, Quad 105D/11, in the Yukon 
Territory, as shown outlined in red on a sketch attached to the legal document.  
 
AMENDED DESCRIPTION OF LAND TO: 
 
All those parcels of land comprising of 1.269 hectares more or less, within Lot 8 REM, Group 804, 
Plan 8406 CLSR, 20502 LTO, in Shipyards Park, City of Whitehorse, Yukon, as shown outlined in 
red on a sketch attached to this Addendum. 

hereinafter described as 
"the Land" 

 
 
CORPORATE SIGNING AUTHORITY 
 
IN WITNESS WHEREOF, “Yukon” and the Lessee has duly executed these presents this _______ 
day of _____________, 2024. 
 
The Corporate Seal of the City of Whitehorse 
Was hereunto affixed in the presence of: 
 
 
_____________________________________________ 
Mayor Laura Cabott 

          (seal) 
_____________________________________________ 
Corporate Services Representative 

Name: ____________________________ Title:________________________________ 
 

 
 
 
SIGNED on behalf the Executive Council Member of Yukon, as represented by the Manager, 
Client Services, Land Management Branch, Department of 
Energy, Mines and Resource, in Yukon this ___ day of ___________________, 2024. 
 
 
____________________________  __________________________________ 
Witness Susan Antpoehler, Manager 
 Client Services,  
 Land Management Branch 
 Energy, Mines and Resources 

brownm
Text Box
Attachment 2



Second Avenue

T
h

ird
 A

ve
n

u
e

Ogilvie Street

Ray Street

2005-0253

2009-3080

TKC C-97FS

TKC C-85FS
LOT 1204 QUAD 105D/11

90259 CLSR YT

EASEMENT

EA
SE

M
EN

T

SEWER LINE EASEMENT

Lot 20

CLSR 8406

CLSR 79682

CLSR 78884

CLSR 76361

CLSR 86828

CLSR 73992

CLSR 101174

C
LS

R
 1

01
10

9

Lot 2A

CLSR 92187

CLSR 87876

CLSR 79682

CLSR 70520

C
LSR

 102230

CLSR 54881

C
LS

R
 5

48
81

CLSR 87876

Lot 8

CLSR 8406

Lot 8
CLSR 8406

Lot 1A

CLSR 92187

Lot 21 CLSR 8406

CLSR 54881

C
LS

R
 1

12
24

5

Yukon River

Y
U

K
O

N

R
I V

E
R

S
e

co
n

d

A
ve

n
u

e

Two Mile

Hill Roa
d

A
la

sk
a

H
ig

h
w

a
y

Whitehorse

Intitials:                   Date:Drawn by: CWICKERT    Date: Apr 16, 2024

The waterbody base data is a graphical representation only and may differ from the actual geographical feature. Imagery dated 1989-2024, Courtesy of Geomatics Yukon.

2006-0146

2006-0146
1.269 ha±

Disposition: 2006-0146PID: 200012076

Boundary locations of Lot 8 (Rem) are
derived from Plans 63040 and 87876 CLSR

Lease

CITY OF WHITEHORSE

April 16, 2024
105D11Mapsheet:135°03'26"W

60°43'45"N

1,000
Metres

0 20 40

Metres

1:2,000

EMR Lands

Parcel of Interest

Application

Disposition

Licence

Notation

First Nations' Interests

Heritage Sites

Heritage Routes

Heritage Site Areas

Settlement Land (surveyed)

Settlement Land (unsurveyed)

EMR Agriculture

AG Application

AG Disposition

Legal Surveys

Easements

Parcels

Mining Interests

Mineral Claim

Placer Claim

Quartz Claim

Parks & Protected Areas

Protected Area

Territorial Park

National Park

brownm
Text Box
Attachment 2



 

CITY OF WHITEHORSE 

BYLAW 2024-58 

A bylaw to amend the 2024 to 2027 Capital Expenditure Program Bylaw 2023-27 

WHEREAS Section 238 of the Municipal Act (R.S.Y. 2002) provides that Council 
shall by bylaw adopt an Annual Operating Budget and a multi-year Capital 
Expenditure Program; and 
WHEREAS Section 241 of the Municipal Act provides that no expenditure shall be 
made which increases total expenditures above what was approved in the Annual 
Operating Budget or the Capital Budget unless such expenditure is approved by 
bylaw; and 
WHEREAS it has become necessary to amend the 2024 to 2027 Capital 
Expenditure Program as the result of the third quarter variance and to provide for 
funding associated with the Mount McIntyre Recreation Centre Upgrades; and 
NOW THEREFORE the Council of the Municipality of the City of Whitehorse, in 
open meeting assembled, hereby ENACTS AS FOLLOWS: 

1. The 2024 to 2027 Capital Expenditure Program is hereby amended by 
reducing the 2024 Capital Budget in the amount of $871,739. 

2. The 2024 to 2027 Capital Expenditure Program is hereby amended by 
increasing the 2024 Capital Budget in the amount of $9,319,000 to provide 
for the funding approved for the Mount McIntyre Recreation Centre 
Upgrades. 

3. This bylaw shall come into full force and effect upon final passing thereof. 

 
FIRST and SECOND READING:  
THIRD READING and ADOPTION:  
 
 
__________________________________ 
Mayor 

 

__________________________________ 
Corporate Services 



 

 

CITY OF WHITEHORSE 
BYLAW 2024-47 

A bylaw to amend Zoning Bylaw 2012-20 

WHEREAS section 289 of the Municipal Act provides that a zoning bylaw may prohibit, 
regulate and control the use and development of land and buildings in a municipality; 
and 
WHEREAS section 294 of the Municipal Act provides for amendment of the Zoning 
Bylaw; and 
WHEREAS it is deemed desirable that the City of Whitehorse Zoning Bylaw be 
amended to allow for the development of an Electrical Substation in the 0.75 parcel of 
vacant Commissioner’s land, located south of Phase 7 of Whistle Bend; and 
NOW THEREFORE the council of the municipality of the City of Whitehorse, in open 
meeting assembled, hereby ENACTS AS FOLLOWS: 

1. The zoning maps attached to and forming part of Zoning Bylaw 2012-20 are hereby 
amended by changing the zoning of the 0.75 parcel of vacant Commissioner’s 
land, located south of Phase 7 of Whistle Bend from FP – Future Planning to PU 
– Public Utilities as indicated on Appendix “A” attached hereto and forming part of 
this bylaw. 

2. This bylaw shall come into force and effect upon the final passing thereof.   
 
FIRST READING:    
PUBLIC NOTICE:  
PUBLIC HEARING:  
SECOND READING:  
THIRD READING and ADOPTION:  

____________________________ 
Kirk Cameron, Mayor 
 
 
____________________________ 
Corporate Services 



Yukon River

HO
LLY ST

EBONY PL

MASCOT ST

BREADWINNER LN

ELLWOOD STREET

H
O

PE
STREET

QUICK STREET

M
AP

LE
 S

TR
EE

T

HIC
KO

R
Y

STREET
ALERT AVENUE

EVERGREEN CRESCENT

FULTON LANE

BAMBOO CRES

CHANCE LANE

SCOTIA LANE

RELIANCE STREET

EV
E

LY
N

 AV
E

N
U

E

FL
ORA A

VEN
UE

ID
ITA

R
O

D
 LA

N
E

BALSA M

C
R

E
S

CENTBA
SS

W
O

OD
ST

RE
ET

LARCH STREET

TA
N

A
N

A LAN
E

O
AK

 S
TR

EE
T

VE
D

D
ER

 AV
E

N
U

E

OMEGA STREET

W
Y

V
E

R
N

 AV
E

N
U

E

BOXWO OD
C

R
E

S
C

E
N

T

WHISTLE BEND WAY

R
E

D
W

O
O

D
S

TR
EE

T

CEDAR CRESCENT

K
E

N
O

W
AY

WANN ROAD

WITCH HAZEL DRIVE

LEOTA
STREET

RAMPART AVENUE

RC2x(a)

R
R

PGRR
CN PE

PS

PR

PS

PS

FP

RCM3

R
C

T

RCS3RCT
RCM3

PR

RCS

RS

PG

PUPE

RCS2
PG

RCM2

RCM

RCS3

RCT

PS

RCS

RCS3

RCT

R
C

S

PU

PG

PR

RCS

RCS3

R
C

M
3

RCT

RCM2
RCS

PR

RCS3

RCS3

PG

PG

PU

RCS

RCM

RCT

RC
M3

RCT

RCM

RCS2

R
C

S2

RCS

RCT

RCS2

RSx(f)

RCM

FP

FP

RCM2

RCM

RCS

RCM

RCM2 RCS

RCM
RCM

PRRCS2

PGPS

RCM

R
C

S

RCM3

RCSx(a)

MAP 6 WHISTLE BEND (WEST)

 

Where a letter appears in brackets following a zoning
designation, e.g. RSx(a), the letter corresponds to the
‘special restrictions’ subsection for that zone.

0 320

Meters

Consolidation date:
April 22, 2024

Projection: NAD 1983 UTM Zone 8

 

M
ap

 8
M

ap 5

 Map 8  

Map 9Map 5

Appendix A, Bylaw Map
Bylaw 2024-47

Rezone
From FP - Future Planning
To PU - Public Utilities


	00 Agenda Regular
	AGENDA
	NEW AND UNFINISHED BUSINESS
	AGENDA (cont’d)

	00a November 16 Days of Activism...
	00a November World Aids Day
	00a_Regular Minutes November 12 2024 draft
	00b_Draft Nov 18 Standing Committee Minutes
	Corporate Services Committee
	City Planning Committee
	Development Services Committee
	City Operations Committee
	Community Services Committee
	Public Health and Safety Committee

	01 Copper 2024-52 Bylaw - Attachment 2
	A bylaw to amend Zoning Bylaw 2012-20

	01a Copper 2024-52 Bylaw Map - Appendix A
	02 Jenni  2024-54 Bylaw_Jenni House Lease
	02a Jenni 2024-54 Appendix A_Jenni House Lease
	02b Jenni 2024-54 Lease_Jenni House
	03 hatch 2024-55 Bylaw_Hatch House Lease
	03a hatch 2024-55 Appendix A_Hatch House
	03b hatch 2024-55 Lease_Hatch House Lease
	04 100ft 2024-56 Bylaw_YG Lease
	04a 100ft 2024-56 Appendix A_YG Lease
	04b 100ft 2024-56 Lease Addendum_YG Lease
	05 Capital Bylaw 2024-58  Budget Amendment
	06 Electrical 2024-47 Bylaw - Attachment 2
	A bylaw to amend Zoning Bylaw 2012-20

	06b Electrical 2024-47 Bylaw Map - Attachment 2, Appendix A



